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“ REMT is the leading enterprise in rare earth magnesivm alloys new materials,
we are determined to build a better future with you.

— Lt
Shum Sai Chit
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”), | am pleased to present the annual results of Rare Earth
Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the "REMT
Group” or the "Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2020 (the "Year”).

INDUSTRY REVIEW

COVID-19 pandemic has spread across Europe, the United States, Southeast Asia, and other parts of the
world, following the outbreak in China at the beginning of 2020. Various countries have taken prevention and
control measures, which once caused a large-scale economic shutdown and soaring unemployment. The
global pandemic situation has been fluctuating. As a result, the world economy fell into recession. Under
COVID-19, the worst global public health emergency since the end of World War I, the supply and demand
sides of the industrial chain of real economy have faced severe challenges, thus adversely affecting the
social and economic activities. The magnesium industry was no exception, and the magnesium enterprises
were operating in a very difficult environment.

China is not only the largest producer of magnesium, but also the largest exporter of magnesium products,
supplying more than 80% of the world’'s requirement. In 2020, magnesium outputs in China were about
907,000 tons, down 6.4% year-on-year, and its export volume was about 393,800 tons, down 12.78% year-
on-year. The overseas market, being the most important source of demand, has shrunken significantly due
to the pandemic. Hence, the supply side of the industrial chain is under pressure. During the Year, the
Group recorded an operating income of approximately HK$744.8 million, an after-tax loss of approximately
HK$74.0 million, and an overall gross profit margin of 17.5%.

MAGNESIUM — AN IDEAL LIGHTWEIGHT METAL STRUCTURAL MATERIAL WITH A BRIGHT FUTURE

Magnesium alloys, as the "most developed and widely used lightweight eco-friendly strategic new materials
of the 271st century”, are strong and stiff, with good thermal and electricity conductivity, good shock
absorption, low processing cost, and easy to recycle. It is widely used in various fields such as automobiles,
rail transportation, 3C electronic products, aerospace, medical equipment, architectured products.

WER R ERERER AR
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

According to the data of magnesium alloys’ application in the automobiles field, in 2019, the average
magnesium consumption per vehicle in China has risen to about 5kg, while the magnesium consumption
per vehicle in some developed countries has reached 40kg. Compared with the developed countries, the
application of magnesium in the automobiles industry in China is catching up and there is a huge space for
development. Relevant research reports forecast that the compound growth rate of applying magnesium
in the global automobiles industry in the next 5 years would be 23.7%.

In November 2020, the Chinese Government issued “the New Energy Automobile Industry Development Plan
(2021-2035])". It predicates that by 2025, the sales volume of new energy vehicles would reach about 20% of
the total sales volume of new vehicles, and the sales volume of new energy vehicles in China would exceed
5 million. For every 100kg weight reduction of new energy vehicles, its endurance range can be improved
by 6-11%. Therefore, the demand for lightweight materials by new energy vehicles is more urgent and is
expected to drive the rapid growth of the industry.

In March 2020, the Chinese Government emphasized speeding up the construction of New Infrastructures,
including 5G infrastructures, large data centers, artificial intelligence (Al), industrial internet, the Internet of
Things, and other new-generation information technologies. All of these need a large amount of power devices
and materials with good strength, fast heat dissipation, and efficient electromagnetic shielding. Magnesium
alloys will excel in the New Infrastructures projects. The broad application spectrum will indeed promote a
substantial increase of the demand for magnesium alloys as new materials.

CONTINUED EFFORTS AND PURSUED INNOVATION

The Group owns 22 technical patents of the production processes and preparation methods for high-
performance magnesium alloys, and adopts the industry’'s advanced vertical retorts smelting technology.
The Group's production base has been recognised as a national-level "High and Advanced Technology
Enterprise”. The Group’s technological advantages and innovative capabilities will be further explored in
the application of magnesium alloy as new materials.

In the future, we will deepen our innovations in technology, product/production, and marketing model, to
meet the growing demand for lightweight new materials and the diversified needs of customers for different
product types in the post-pandemic era. We are to build a better future with you.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

On behalf of the Group, | wish to thank our shareholders, members of the Board, customers, bankers, and
business partners for their invaluable support. | would also like to express my sincere thanks to all the
staff for their dedication and hard work. | would like to thank all for the unfailing support and the total
confidence in the Company. We will not forget our original aspiration. We will continue to move forward,
and live up to the trust and support of all stakeholders.

Shum Sai Chit
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

X150 B B o5 4

FR - REBW AT44,836,0000 70 (ZF — N5 :1,515,291,0000 7T) » 4 50.8% : E B2 E F =5 4 10.0%
Z17.5% ; IR B FE 15 &5 18 &74,011,00058 7T (ZF — L4 ¢ 3% F209,732,00058 JT) °
MBERERE FINANCIAL AND BUSINESS SUMMARY
—E2EfHF —E-NF —E-N\E
zuzu 2019 2018
Fi&T FE&T FExT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(BE %) (BE) (RE#)
(Audited) (Audited) (Audited)
8 3 & Statement of profit or loss
N Revenue 744,836 1,515,291 1,537,781
eSS Gross profit 130,171 416,206 409,483
E M =X Gross profit margin 17.5% 27.5% 26.6%
BT 5 3T & Al A B EBITDA 133,220 447150 428,905
BREHETERFEE  EBITDA margin 17.9% 29.5% 27.9%
Hx%ﬂﬂﬁ(ﬁéﬁé /% F (Loss)/profit attributable to (74,011) 209,732 217,691
owners of the Company
# A =& Net profit margin N/A 13.8% 14.2%
& = & {& & Balance sheet
EE%@ L Total asset 2,556,832 2,554,324 2,372,218
T B Total equity 1,451,922 1,387,887 1,271,217
fﬂﬂfﬁé(&?ﬁaﬁﬁ Cash at banks [(including 46,289 271,690 156,008
R1TF R pledged bank deposits)
#5 & Indicators
ek Gearing ratio 34.1% 34.2% 30.6%
A B E‘E%tb B EBITDA/Interest 1.36 6.20 5.87
B AR 2 R Return on equity N/A 15.1% 17.1%
10 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

BUSINESS REVIEW AND ANALYSIS

During the Year, the revenue of the Group was HK$744,836,000 (2019: HK$1,515,291,000), representing
a year-on-year decrease of 50.8%; the overall gross profit margin decreased 10.0% to 17.5%, the loss
attributable to shareholders was HK$74,011,000 (2019: profit of HK$209,732,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

MAIN OPERATION DATA ANALYSIS

The decrease in revenue was mainly due to the spread of the global epidemic outbreak, in response to
which governments of all countries carried out stringent prevention and control measures. It has once, led
to the suspension of production of real enterprises; the pressure on the supply and demand sides of the
industrial chain; the weak market demand; and the low magnesium price. As such, the total sales volume
of products of the Group decreased to 39,156 tonnes during the Year from 60,559 tonnes for 2019, bringing
about a significant impact on the results of the Group for 2020.

The EBITDA of the Year decreased by HK$313,930,000 or 70.2% to HK$133,220,000 (2019: HK$447,150,000).

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES ANALYSIS

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses were approximately HK$8,506,000 (2019: HK$15,615,000), which mainly
comprised of marketing expenses and sales staff wages. Selling and distribution expenses to revenue ratio
was approximately 1.1% (2019: 1.0%).

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses mainly comprised of expenses such as staff remuneration, depreciation and
amortisation, audit and professional fees and research and development. The administrative expenses for
the Year was approximately HK$100,611,000 (2019: HK$77,551,000), representing a year-on-year increase
of approximately HK$23,060,000 or 29.7%. The increase in administrative expenses was mainly due to
the additional professional fee paid/payable of approximately HK$4.3 million for the restructuring of
the Company, the reclassification of certain fixed production costs [mainly represented depreciation of
underutilised assets] to administrative expenses of approximately HK$17.7 million due to the relatively low
production capacity of the Group during the Year, and the written-off of receivable of approximately HK$28
million.

Finance Costs

Finance cost was approximately HK$97,857,000 (2019: HK$72,064,000), representing a year-on-year increase
of approximately HK$25,793,000 or 35.8%, of which approximately HK$51,728,000 (2019: HK$51,536,000])
was the accounting interest of the Convertible Bonds issued to the controlling shareholder, Ming Xin
Developments Limited in November 2017. As disclosed in the announcement of the Company on 30 October
2020, the Convertible Bonds was expired on 30 November 2020 and became repayable on demand,
reclassified as other borrowings of the Group and carried interest at a rate of 4% per annum.

The increase in finance costs was mainly due to default interests recognised subsequent to the cross default
of certain debts of the Group during the Year, and the full year effect of the finance costs recognised in
2020 in respect of the note with an principal amount of HK$100 million issued to a noteholder in December
2019.

Final Dividend

The Board did not recommend the payment of final dividend to the shareholders of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

WER R ERERER AR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The EBITDA of the Group was HK$133,220,000 (2019: HK$447,150,000), representing a year-on-year
decrease of 70.2%. The interest coverage decreased to 1.36 times. The Group's borrowing rate/gearing ratio
was 34.1%. At the end of the Year, cash in bank (including pledged bank deposits) was HK$46,289,000.

Possible Debt Restructuring and the Appointment of Joint Provisional Liquidators for Restructuring Purposes

Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited ("CS”) is the controlling shareholder of the Company holding
approximately 72.31% shareholding interest in the Company through its wholly-owned subsidiary Ming Xin
Developments Limited. CS defaulted in its redemption of its subordinated notes listed on SGX in aggregate
principal amount of SDG101,750,000 that matured on 3 July 2020. Amongst others, Ming Xin Developments
Limited is a guarantor of the notes. The CS’s default constitutes an event of default in respect of certain
borrowings of the Group, causing the cross default.

On 3 July 2020 (Bermuda time), the Company has filed to the Supreme Court of Bermuda (the "Bermuda
Court”] a winding up petition ("Petition"] together with the application for the appointment of the “light touch”
joint provisional liquidators (the "JPLs") for restructuring purpose. The board of directors of the Company
will retain management of the Company, while the JPLs will work alongside the Company’s management to,
monitor, supervise, and oversee the implementation of a group-wide holistic and coordinated restructuring
of its debts and liabilities including to maintain the listing of the Company on the Stock Exchange.

The JPLs Application was heard before the Bermuda Court on 16 July 2020 (Bermuda time). An order was
granted by the Bermuda Court for the appointment of Mr. Yen Ching Wai David and Ms. So Kit Yee Anita
of Ernst & Young Transactions Limited, Mr. Roy Bailey of Ernst & Young Ltd., and Ms. Tammy Karina Fu of
EY Cayman Ltd., [collectively, the "JPLs") as the “light-touch” joint provisional liquidators of the Company
for restructuring purposes, with the power to act jointly and severally.

On 7 August 2020, the Bermuda Court issued a letter of request ("LOR") to the High Court of Hong Kong
(the "High Court") for the recognition of the appointment and powers of the JPLs in Hong Kong to, inter
alia, develop and propose a restructuring plan to allow the Company to continue as a going concern. The
Bermuda Court also accepted the resignation of one of the JPLs, Mr. Yen Ching Wai David on the same
day. The JPLs appointment order remains in force in respect of Mr. Roy Bailey, Ms. Tammy Karina Fu and
Ms. So Kit Yee Anita as JPLs. An application has been filed by the JPLs to the High Court on 21 August
2020 for the recognition of the appointment and powers of the JLPs pursuant to the LOR. On 25 August
2020, the High Court has approved the said application.

On 25 February 2021, the Company received a petition (the “Petition”) filed by Al Global Investment SPC
acting on behalf of and for the account of Al Investment Fund S.P. (the “Petitioner”) on 22 February 2021
against the Company in the High Court for an order that the Company be wound up by the High Court. The
Petition was filed against the Company for its failure to repay the Petitioner an outstanding principal of the
notes together with the unpaid interest and default interest in an aggregate amount of Us$20,707,777.78,
which was pursuant to a subscription agreement of 7% unsubordinated and unsecured notes due 2020 in
a principal amount of US$20,000,000 entered into between the Petitioner as subscriber and the Company
as the issuer dated 7 August 2017. The Petition will be heard before the High Court on 2 June 2021. The
Company is in the course of seeking legal advice in respect of the above matter.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

During the Year, the JPLs have held the creditors’ meeting with creditors who have registered their rights
and have formed the creditors’ committee for consultation purposes and to assist the JPLs regarding the
formulation of the debt restructuring plan. Any determination and implementation of such plan shall be
subject to the agreement of the majority of creditors at the meeting and the orders granted by the Bermuda
Court and the High Court. The Company will continue to maintain active communication with creditors and
adopt practicable measures to unite the consensus of creditors in order to promote the implementation of
the restructuring plan.

Validation order

Pursuant to Section 166(1) of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, any disposition of the property of the
Company, including things in action, and any transfer of shares of the Company (the "Shares”], or alteration
in the status of the members of the Company, made after the commencement of the winding-up, shall,
unless the Bermuda Court otherwise orders, be void. The Company has sought legal advice regarding the
application for a validation order in respect of the transfer of Shares.

The Company wishes to update that, upon obtaining legal advice, it is advisable for the Company to apply
for the validation order in Hong Kong. The Company is in the course of preparing such application for the
Validation Order in Hong Kong and is expected to file with the High Court shortly. Further announcement(s)
will be made by the Company to provide update on the outcome of the application.

PROSPECT

In 2020, the raging COVID-19 outbreak has spread across the world, hitting the world economy seriously.
The magnesium industry was no exception. The supply and demand sides of the industry have faced severe
challenges. With the coronavirus vaccine being promoted globally, the turning point of the pandemic is
emerging and the global economy is gradually recovering. Then the magnesium alloy new materials will
stimulate the market again by broadly applying to the new economy.

In 2021, the Company will be cautious on existing business development and strive to innovate the product/
production, technology, and marketing in practice. Besides, in order to further enhance the overall
competitiveness and profitability of the Group, we will make consistent efforts to explore new-quality
customers while retaining regular and loyal customers. And we will expand the market network so as to
cater to the demand for new lightweight materials in the post-epidemic era. We are certain to devote our
tireless efforts to build a better future for all.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
FOREIGN CURRENCIES AND TREASURY POLICY

Most of the Group’s business transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated in Hong Kong dollars,
United States dollars or Renminbi. The usual treasury policy of the Group is to manage significant currency
exposure and minimize currency risk whenever it may have material impact to the Group. During the Year,
the Group did not engage in any interest rate or currencies speculations.

EMPLOYEES RELATIONS

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has 382 employees (2019: 722 employees]. In addition to remuneration,
the Group also provides annual leave, medical insurance, provident fund and other fringe benefits for its staff.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Our Group’s financial condition, results of operations, and business prospects may be affected by a number
of risks and uncertainties directly or indirectly pertaining to our Group’s businesses. The followings are the
key risks and uncertainties identified by our Group. There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition
to those shown below which are not known to our Group or which may not be material now but could turn
out to be material in the future.

Market risks

Market risk is the risk that deteriorates profitability or affects ability to meet business objectives arising
from the movement in market demand, product prices, foreign exchange rates, and interest rates. The
management of our Group keeps continually monitoring these exposures closely to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner against such risks.

Exchange rate risk

The Group mainly operates in the Mainland China and Hong Kong and is exposed to foreign exchange risk
arising from primarily with respect to Renminbi, Hong Kong Dollars and United States Dollars. Foreign
exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net
investments in foreign operations. The Group’s management does not expect the net foreign currency risk
from these activities to be significant and hence, the Group does not presently hedge the foreign exchange
risks.

The Group has planned to periodically reviews liquid assets and liabilities held in currencies other than Hong
Kong Dollars to evaluate its foreign exchange risk exposure and consider the usage of hedging instruments
when necessary.

Interest rate risk

For interest-sensitive products and investments, our Group analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic
basis and considers managing this risk in a cost-effective manner when appropriate, through variety of
means.

Credit risk

The Group has always been aware of the credit risk exposure of our customers. In order to minimise the
credit risk, management of the Group has authorised a team responsible for determining credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. The procedures required that all clients were regularly assessed so that the Group could keep track
of their transaction records and credit history.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk

During year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recorded loss of approximately HK$74,011,000, and, as
of that date, the Group's current liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately HK$180,801,000.
Further, as at 31 December 2020, the Group’s current and non-current borrowings amounted to
approximately HK$796,938,000 and HK$75,381,000 while its cash and cash equivalents only amounted to
approximately HK$36,104,000. As disclosed in note 1 to the financial statements, the Group is exposed to
liquidity risk if it is not able to raise sufficient fund to meet its financial obligations.

The directors of the Company have given careful consideration to the future liquidity of the Group, details
of which are set out in note 3 to the financial statements.

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and
systems or from external events. Responsibility for managing operational risks basically rests with
functional departments of the Group and its subsidiaries. Key function of the Group is to guide their standard
operating procedures, limits of authority and reporting framework. Our management will assess key
operational exposures and effect raised in business development regularly, implement relevant measures
and improve the internal control so that risk can be responded and mitigated on a timely and effective
manner.

Investment risk

Investment risk can be defined as the likelihood of extension of its return period relative to the expected
return or occurrence of losses on any particular investment attributable to changes of external factors.
The Group is well aware of the importance of exploring various business opportunities and territories on
a continual basis, and implemented this as the key task of the year. Key concern of projects investment
framework will be balancing risk and return across different investments, and thus risk assessment
is a core aspect of the investment decision process. Proper investment assessment and due diligence
procedures have been set up and detailed analysis will be made before approving investments. Regular
updates on the progress of the investments of our Group would be submitted to the Board.

MANPOWER AND RETENTION RISK

Manpower risk means huge demand for talents because of the Group’'s rapid business development
while at the same time facing severe competition over specialists from the industry and turnover of
manpower. Our Group may face the risk of not being able to recruit and retain key personnel and talents
with appropriate and required skills, experience and competence to cope with the expansion of business
which would meet with our business objectives. Our Group will periodically conduct a thorough analysis
over its remuneration system, as well as incentive mechanism and optimize the compensation structure
so as to ensure remuneration packages can align reasonably with market standard and maintain its
competitiveness. Meanwhile, recruitment channels are broadened and the talent pool of senior management
are strengthened, so as to further enhance the promotion opportunities and career path of employees.
Systematic staff training are also being further enhanced to increase the overall effectiveness of training
and the dissemination of corporate cultures and values.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

Environmental policies and performance mainly means that the PRC

Government is paying increasing attention to environmental rules and Riﬁﬂﬂkof
policies and is imposing more stringent regulatory requirements. R~
The Group’s subsidiaries and newly acquired enterprises have
been operating for a long while which might lag behind in

certain environmental and duty requirements promulgated by

the PRC Government. The Group monitors impact on business

development closely raised from movements of environmental BN

policy and external factors. Acting in an environmentally Energy Saving 6ol RIS
responsible manner and performing social responsibilities, the Measures Water Saving
Group is committed to improving and maintaining the long term
sustainability of the communities in which it operates. The Group

endeavours to comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection and adopt effective
measures to achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving and waste reduction. Green initiatives and
measures have been adopted in daily operation of the Group. Such initiatives include recycling of resources,
energy saving measures and water saving practices.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s subsidiaries in Mainland China while the
Company is listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The Group’s operations accordingly shall comply with
relevant laws and regulations in Mainland China and Hong Kong. During the year ended 31 December 2020
and up to the date of this report, to the best of our knowledge, the Group has no material non-compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations in Mainland China and Hong Kong.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES AND KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The number of employees of the Group was approximately 382 as at 31 December 2020. The remuneration
of employees was determined by the Group with reference to their performance, work experience and
current market conditions. Employee benefits include annual leave, medical insurance and provident fund
scheme. There has been no labour dispute or significant change in the relationship with the employees
that affect the normal operations of the Group. The Directors believe that the Group maintains admirable
relations with its employees.

Our Group understands that it is important to maintain good relationship with business partners,
shareholders, investors and banks to achieve its long-term goals. To keep up with our key stakeholders
closely, the Group has formulated corresponding scheme about investor relationship, and also holds tailored
activities from time to time, such as annual/extraordinary general meetings, on-site visits, seminars and
road-shows. Accordingly, our senior management has kept good communication, promptly exchanged ideas
and shared business latest update about development of the Group with our stakeholders when appropriate.
During the year, there was no material dispute between our Group and its business partners or banks.
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PROJECT OVERVIEW

Dolomite Mine

The Group’s dolomite mine is situated in Baishan City, Jilin Province, the PRC. The mine is operated by
open-pit method, and therefore no additional exploration works are involved or required. Only simple
infrastructure works for open-pit mining are involved in the development activities, and no underground
exploration or structural works are involved. The dolomite mined is raw material for producing magnesium
products of the Group. The transportation cost for raw material is relatively low due to the close proximity
of the mine to the production base of the Group.

The dolomite mine of the Group was reported under the Chinese resource/reserve categories. As at 31
December 2020, the anticipated resource and reserve volumes were determined based on the yearly
reduction of quantity mined to calculate the remaining resource and reserve volumes. There is no material
change in the assumptions of estimation by the Group as compared with those previously disclosed. The
resource and reserve volumes was reviewed by the Group’'s internal geological experts. For the year ended
31 December 2020, there was no dolomite output. As compared with the state as at 31 December 2019,
there was no material change in the resource estimate and ore reserve of the dolomite mine.

The expenditure incurred in mining activities of dolomite for the year ended 31 December 2020 were
approximately HK$Nil while the expenditure incurred in exploration and development activities was HK$NIil.
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The Company recognises the importance of good corporate
governance to the long-term development of the Group and
has devoted considerable efforts in identifying, formulating,
implementing and enhancing corporate governance practices
in accordance with the needs of the Group. As mentioned
below, the Company has established the relevant committees/
sub-committee and adopted certain internal policies to improve
internal controls and enhance transparency of business
operation of the Group with a view to protect the interests of
its stakeholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company has
complied with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
(the "Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), save for the deviations as
disclosed in “Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” section
and as follows:

Under code provision A.6.7, independent non-executive
directors and other non-executive directors should also attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the
views of shareholders.

—  Professor Meng Jian (being a non-executive Director) and
Dr. Tam Wai Ho JP (being a non-executive Director] were
unable to attend the general meetings held on 30 June
2020 as he was obliged to be away for other matters.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors (the "Model Code”] set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct of the
Group regarding securities transactions of the directors of
the Company [the "Directors”) on terms no less exactly than
required standard set out in the Model Code. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2020.
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THE BOARD

Currently, the Board comprises the following six Directors:

Executive Directors

Shum Sai Chit [Chairman and Chief Executive Officer]
Chi Jing Chao

Non-executive Director

Professor Meng Jian

Independent Non-executive Directors

Kwong Ping Man
Cheung Sound Poon
Kwan Ngai Kit

Functions of the Board

The Board is responsible for formulating the overall strategies
and policies of the Group, reviewing and monitoring its
financial performance, including preparing and approving
financial statements and overseeing operational matters of
the management, considering the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting
and financial reporting function and their training programmes
and budget. Daily business operations and administrative
functions of the Group are delegated to the management.

Board meetings and practices

The Board meets regularly and board meetings are held at
least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals.
Notices and agenda of regular board meetings are served to
all Directors at least fourteen days before the meetings to
ensure that all Directors are given the opportunity to attend
and to include matters in the agenda. Discussion materials
of regular board meetings are sent to all Directors for their
study at least three days prior to the meetings. Draft minutes
of board meetings are circulated to all Directors for review and
comments within a reasonable time after the meetings prior
to confirmation. Minutes are recorded in sufficient detail of the
matters considered by the Board and decisions reached.
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THE BOARD /continued)

Board meetings and practices /(continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, six board meetings
were held by the Company, and the individual attendance rate
of each Director at meetings of the Board, its committees and
General Meetings is as follows:

FidiE/ BT28d
Attended/held

EET FHEET RRZST FMERE HITER
S gk S o ZEE RRAT

Executive
Audit Nomination ~ Remuneration ~ Management Members
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee General

Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings

HITEE Executive Directors
ot 3 Shum Sai Chit 6/b - 11 - - 11
5 Chi Jing Chao b/6 - 1N - - 0/1
FHTES Non-executive Directors
ARHE Professor Meng Jian b/6 - - - - 0N
BRRATH+ Tam Wai Ho, Samson Jp# 2/3 - - - - 0/
BYKHTES Independent Non-

executive Directors
B A X Kwong Ping Man 6/6 A 1/1 1/1 = 1/1
KEA Cheung Sound Poon 6/6 4l4 — 1/1 — 1/1
GRS Kwan Ngai Kit b/6 4l4 1N — — 1N
# R-ZZE-_ZFA=Z+AHRMAE # retired on 30 June 2020
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Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and (2], and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules, sufficient number of Independent Non-executive
Directors have been appointed and at least one of the
remaining Independent Non-executive Directors has
appropriate accounting or related financial management
expertise The Board has received annual confirmation of
independence from each of its Independent Non-executive
Directors as required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

There is no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships among members of the Board.
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THE BOARD /continued)

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

The Company updates the Directors of the latest changes
in the Listing Rules, Companies Ordinance and other
applicable regulatory requirements from time to time. Apart
from encouraging the Directors to participate in continuous
professional development ("‘CPD") courses to refresh and
enhance their knowledge and skills, the Company also
arranged an industry-related in-house seminar for the
Directors and provided them with reading materials relating to
the directors’” duties. All Directors have provided the Company
with their records of training they received during the year
ended 31 December 2020.

A summary of the trainings participated by the Directors during
the year ended 31 December 2020 is as follows:

BESERBEENEEE

Types of continuous professional

EE Directors development training "

HITESE Executive Directors

oot B Shum Sai Chit B

b, 5% 8 Chi Jing Chao B

kHITES Non-executive Director

B Professor Meng Jian B

BYFHTES Independent Non-executive Directors

BB A ST Kwong Ping Man AKX B
A and B

BRI Cheung Sound Poon AXB
A and B

78 3R A Kwan Ngai Kit AKB
A and B

B 5 - Notes:

A: i A8 R Sk B FI AR AR A: Attending seminar(s] or training session(s)

B: MERE FIYWREBALAAEBREZTHRE B: Reading newspaper, journals and updates relating to the Company’s business

REME ETRAREGEAEERERMNE
REDHEMNRNEH

or directors’ duties and responsibilities, the latest development of the Listing
Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements, etc.
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THE BOARD /continued)

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the following
corporate governance duties of the Company in accordance
with the “Terms of Reference of Corporate Governance
Function” adopted by it:

(a) to develop and review the Company s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make appropriate
recommendations;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company's policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
applicable to employees and Directors; and

(e) to review the Company's compliance with the Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year under review, the Board has performed the
following corporate governance duties:

. Reviewed and approved the contents of the Corporate
Governance Report included in the 2019 annual report of
the Company;

e Adopted the "Board Diversity Policy”; and

o Reviewed the Whistle-blowing Policy of the Group to
ensure the arrangements for employees to raise concerns
about possible improprieties in financial reporting and
internal control, etc. were adequate.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Subsequent to the retirement of Ms. Chi Bi Fen as Chief
Executive Officer in 2019, Mr. Shum Sai Chi, the chairman
and an executive Director, has been appointed as the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company.

Mr. Shum Sai Chit has numerous years of experience in the
management of the Company and is familiar with all aspects
of the Group’s operations and the Board considers that Mr.
Shum Sai Chit is well qualified to take up the role of the Chief
Executive Officer.

Following the appointment of Mr. Shum as Chief Executive
Officer, the Company does not have a separate chairman and
Chief Executive Officer and Mr. Shum holds both positions, in
which there is deviation to code provision A.2.1 of Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules,
which provides (among other matters) that the roles of the
chairman and the chief executive officer should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual. Mr,
Shum Sai Chit had been in charge of the overall management
of the Company since 2015 and the Company considered that
such arrangement would promote the efficient formulation
and implementation of the Company’s strategies which would
enable the Group to further develop its businesses effectively
at this stage. The Board will review the current structure from
time to time and shall make necessary arrangements when
the Board considers appropriate.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The terms of appointment of the Non-executive Directors and
the Independent Non-executive Directors are fixed for a specific
term, and shall be subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company (the
“Bye-laws”).
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Currently, the Company has set up four committees, namely
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Executive Management
Committee respectively. Each committee is delegated with
specific authorities by the Board in assisting the Board to
discharge its duties and to administer particular aspects of the
Group’s activities. The roles and functions of each committee
are summarized below

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in 1999. The Company
has adopted Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee in
compliance with code provision C.3.3 of the Code. The Audit
Committee comprises three Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Kwong Ping Man (chairman of the Audit
Committee), Mr. Cheung Sound Poon and Mr. Kwan Ngai Kit.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee is to
provide an independent and professional advice on financial
reporting, to evaluate the effectiveness of internal control
(including the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting function, and their training programmes and budget)
and the sufficiency of external and internal audits of the Group.

After each Audit Committee meeting, the chairman of the Audit
Committee will report to the Board of the significant issues
discussed by the Committee for the Board's information and/or
consideration.

The Audit Committee has held four meetings in the year ended
31 December 2020. The major tasks accomplished by it during
the year are summarized below

o Reviewed the final results for the period ended 31
December 2019 and the interim results for the six
months ended 30 June 2020, and confirmed that the
accounting principles and practices adopted as well as
the disclosures made in such financial statements were
appropriate, accurate and fair;

J Reviewed the internal control procedures and risk
management matters;
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BOARD COMMITTEES /continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

o Discussed with the auditors on the scope of audit for the
year ended 31 December 2020; and

o Reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff of the Company’'s accounting
and financial reporting function, and their training
programmes and budget.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the annual results of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in 1996. The
Company has adopted Terms of Reference of the Remuneration
Committee in compliance with code provision B.1.2 of the
Code. The Remuneration Committee comprises an Executive
Director, namely Mr. Chi Jing Chao and two Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Kwong Ping Man (chairman of
the Remuneration Committee] and Mr. Cheung Sound Poon.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the Company's policy
and structure in relation to remuneration of the Directors
and senior management of the Company. It schedules to
meet at least once a year to review and determine the
remuneration packages of the Executive Directors and senior
management and to make recommendation to the Board of
the remuneration of Non-executive Director. In determining
and approving the remuneration of Directors and senior
management of the Company, the Remuneration Committee
will take into consideration of various factors such as market
competitiveness, individual performance and profitability of the
Company and its business units.

The Remuneration Committee has held one meeting in the year
ended 31 December 2020 to review the existing remuneration
policies of the Directors and senior management of the
Company, etc.
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BOARD COMMITTEES /continued)

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established in 2012. The
Company has adopted Terms of Reference of the Nomination
Committee with reference to code provision A.5.2 of the Code.
The Nomination Committee comprises an Executive Director,
namely Mr. Shum Sai Chit [chairman of the Nomination
Committee] and two Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Kwong Ping Man and Mr. Kwan Ngai Kit.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become Directors and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
reappointment of Directors, assessing the independence of
the Independent Non-executive Directors and monitoring the
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy of the Company.

The Nomination Committee has held one meeting in the year
ended 31 December 2020, together with by means of written
resolutions, to review and deal with the following major issues:

o Reviewed the qualifications and experiences of individual
Directors as well as their roles and responsibilities in the
Group to ensure the existing Board structure is fit for the
business growth of the Group; and

J Reviewed the degree of diversity of the existing Board.

Executive management Committee

The Executive Management Committee was established in
2005 with written terms of reference to operate as a general
management committee under the authority of the Board.
Currently, the Executive Management Committee comprises
two Executive Directors, namely Mr. Shum Sai Chit (chairman
of the Executive Management Committee) and Mr. Chi Jing
Chao.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY SUMMARY

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy. The
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity
of its Board members. All Board appointments will be
based on meritocracy and competence, and the candidates
will be considered against certain objective criteria such as
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional qualifications, areas of experience, skills,
knowledge and length of services, etc. The ultimate decision
will be based on merits and contributions that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

REBE2-_ZE-_ZF+-_A=+—HIF For the year ended 31 December 2020, the total remunerations
B KRR BEZIRG RKIEFERZRE paid/payable by the Company to its external auditors in respect
MEXH XA FEIEZER of the audit services and non-audit services are as follows:
e @zEmT:

FExT
PR %5 %8 51 Types of services HK$’000
BEZRB Audit services 1,000
#Et Total 1,000

EERRMBBR2EME

EEHRANSAEERHETEELR
T RSB ER AN N KA 2B
BH& BE_T_TFFT_A=1—
BLEFE AEEZEBSHEEFEBRY
74,011,000 7T °

ARNAZBEEEHE R BERR 2RE
BEEZRAEH R ANEF RS EZE RS
BZIBIZBEMBREIA -

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing
the financial statements which give a true and fair view of the
state of the Group's affairs and results. The Group recorded a
consolidated net loss of approximately HK$74,011,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2020.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out
in the “Independent Auditor's Report” on pages 53 to 57 of this
annual report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Since 20 August 2015, Mr. Fan Kwok Man, Raymond has been
appointed as the Company Secretary. Mr. Fan holds a Bachelor
of Business Administration in Insurance, Financial and
Actuarial Analysis from the Chinese University of Hong Kong
and he is member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and has over 10 years of experience in auditing,
accounting, financial management and corporate finance.

According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Fan has taken
no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during
the year ended 31 December 2020.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convention of Special General meeting

Pursuant to Bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, Shareholders holding
at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than 10% of
the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the Secretary of
the Company, to require a special general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition to the Company’s
registered office. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionists
themselves may do so in accordance with the provisions
of Section 74(3) of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (the
“Companies Act”).
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS /continued)

Putting Forward Proposals at General meetings by Shareholders

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act,
registered Shareholders are entitled to put forward a proposal
at a general meeting if they:

(a) represent not less than 5% of the total voting rights of
the Company at the date of the deposit of the requisition;
or

(b) are not less than 100 registered Shareholders.

The written requisition stating the resolution(s] should be
duly signed by the registered Shareholder(s] concerned,
accompanied by a statement of not more than 1,000 words
with respect to the matter referred to in the proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with must be deposited
at the Company’'s registered office. The Company would take
appropriate actions and make necessary arrangements.
The Shareholder(s] concerned would be responsible for the
expenses incurred in giving effect thereto in accordance with
the requirements under Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies
Act once valid documents are received.

Enquiries from Shareholders

The Board welcomes views, enquires and concerns in relation
to the management and corporate governance of the Group
from Shareholders. Shareholders may at any time send their
enquires and/or concerns to the Board in writing by email
(info@remt.com.hk], by fax ((852) 2802 2697) or by mail to the
principal place of business of the Company for follow up.

For shareholding enquiries, Shareholders may contact the
Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office of the
Company, Tricor Secretaries Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

The Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws of the Company
was updated on the websites of the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong ("Stock Exchange”) on 13 June 2018
and there is no other change in such constitutional document
during the year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibilities for risk management
and internal control of the Group. The system of internal
control is designed to manage and mitigate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives with reasonable assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Board has conducted annual review of the effectiveness
of the internal control system of the Group which covers the
review of risk management functions, financial, operational and
compliance controls, the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff of the Company's accounting and
financial reporting function and their training programmes and
budget, etc.. The Board considered the internal control system
of the Group effective and adequate.

The Company have formulated an inside information policy
providing guideline on handling inside information. The
Company regularly reminds the directors and employees
about compliance with all policies adopted by the Company
regarding inside information including the Model Code set out
in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules in relation to dealings in
securities of the Company.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group is committed to enhance investor relationship by
increasing its transparency to the investment community.

The following measures have been taken by the Company to
keep investors informed of the latest developments and news of
the Group and to facilitate a two-way communication between
the Company and its Shareholders:

(a)] Mailing corporate communication documents such as
interim reports, annual reports and circulars to the
Shareholders periodically and uploading the same on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange;

(b)  Publishing announcements through the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange;

(c) Making available of the Company's corporate and
products information on its website;

(d) QOrganizing general meetings to facilitate direct exchange
of views between the Shareholders and the management
of the Company; and

(e}  Encouraging investors to communicate with the Company
through the Company’s website from time to time.

At the Company’s last AGM held on 30 June 2020, all the
resolutions relating to the adoption of financial statements,
re-election of Directors, reappointment of auditors and grant
of general mandates to issue and repurchase shares have
been duly passed. The forthcoming AGM of the Company is
scheduled to be held on 30 June 2021 or any other dates as
specified in further notice of AGM meeting to be published on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange later.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. SHUM Sai Chit, age 63, Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Shum
was the Managing Director of Go Modern Limited which was
principally engaged in manufacturing of textile products and
trading activities. In 1984, Mr. Shum joined Fujian Textiles
Import and Export Corporation as a Manager to oversee
importing and exporting of textile products. Mr. Shum is a
graduate of Consumer Product Pricing and Statistics. Mr. Shum
is currently an executive director of Century Sunshine Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 509).

Mr. CHI Jing Chao, aged 38, was appointed as an executive
director of the Company on 27 June 2019. Prior to his
appointment, he was the chief corporate affairs officer of
Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 509).
He was responsible for the overall corporate activities. Mr. Chi
has more than 10 years of experience in corporate affairs. Mr.
Chi is a graduate of Financial and Administrative Management.
Mr. Chi has joined Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited
since August 2004. Mr. Chi is the nephew of Mr. Chi Wen Fu,
the substantial shareholders of the Company. He is currently an
executive director of Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Professor MENG Jian, age 64, is a professor of State Key
Laboratory for Rare Earth Resource Utilisation, Changchun
Institute of Applied Chemistry of Chinese Academy of Science.
He is a deputy officer of Professional Committee of Solid
Science and New Materials of Chinese Society of Rare Earth.
He is also a director of Chinese Society of Rare Earth and
Nonferrous Metals Society of China. He is an expert of the
Association of China Rare Earth Industry and China Magnesium
Association. Professor Meng has been engaging in research
and development of rare earth magnesium alloys and new
materials. He has contributed to the development and
application of rare earth magnesium alloys in China. Professor
Meng majored in semiconducting from Jilin University, and
holds a master's degree from the chemistry department of
Chinese Academy of Science. He holds a degree of doctor of
Engineering from Toyohashi University of Technology, Japan.
Professor Meng is currently a consultant of Century Sunshine
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 509) for rare earth
magnesium alloys projects.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. KWONG Ping Man, age 56, is a director of O'Park Corporate
Services Limited which provides corporate advisory services.
Mr. Kwong had served as the chief financial officer of various
companies for almost seven years. Mr. Kwong has over 15
years of experience in accounting, finance and administration.
He obtained a master’'s degree in Professional Accounting
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a member
of the Australian Society of Certified Practising Accountants,
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, and associate member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Company Secretaries. Mr. Kwong is currently an independent
non-executive director of Tang Palace (China) Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 1181), Dragon King Group Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 8493) and Royal Deluxe Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
3789).

Mr. CHEUNG Sound Poon, age 60, is currently a senior audit
manager at Chui & Kwok (CPA]. He was an audit senior at
Gary W. K. Yam & Co. [CPA]). Mr. Cheung has over 35 years
of experience in accounting and auditing. He is currently an
independent non-executive director of audit committee of
Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited [stock code: 509).

Mr. KWAN Ngai Kit, aged 41, is currently the chief financial
officer and the company secretary of Modern Dental Group
Limited (Stock Code: 3600). Mr. Kwan has over 10 years'
experience in auditing. He was a senior manager in assurance
department of Ernst & Young. He is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
Mr. Kwan holds a MBA degree from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong and a Bachelor's degree in Accountancy from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Kwan was an
independent non-executive director of Leyou Technologies
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1089) until 31 December 2020.
Mr. Kwan is currently an independent non-executive director
of A & S Group (Holdings) Limited (Stock Code: 1737) and Lai
Group Holding Company Limited (Stock Code: 8455).
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LU Tianyuan, age 56, is responsible for the corporate
affairs management of the Group. Mr. Lu is a graduate of
Chinese Language and Literature and is an economist. He
has over 15 years of relevant experience in corporate affairs
management. Prior to joining the Group, he has worked in a
large alloy enterprise for over 25 years. He joined the Group
in 2015.

Mr. ZHU Xinlong, age 44, is responsible for production,
operation, and research and development of the products.
Mr. Zhu has more than 20 years of experience in magnesium
industry, specializing in the production process and
organization management of magnesium and magnesium
alloys. He has long served in magnesium and magnesium
alloys enterprises in China. He joined the Group in 2019.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board presents their report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries is set out in note 1 to the
financial statements, respectively.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required
by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
including a description of the principal risks and uncertainties
facing the Group and an indication of likely future development
in the Group’s business, can be found in the Management
Discussion and Analysis set out on pages 10 to 25 of this
annual report. This discussion forms part of this directors’
report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises environmental protection is of vital
importance to the long-term development of the Group.
In order to minimise the environmental impact, the Group
will continue to review and improve the effectiveness of its
management practices from time to time. “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” will be published on or before
July 2021. For details, please refer to the Company’'s website.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December 2020 and
the Group’s financial position at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 58 to 162.

No interim dividend was paid by the Company during the year
under review. No payment of final dividend to Shareholders
is recommended for the year ended 31 December 2020. The
retained earnings of the Group as at 31 December 2020 was
approximately HK$696,288,000.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
For the year ended 31 December 2020:

(] The Group's largest customer and the five largest
customers accounted for 13.2% and 38.5% respectively of
the Group’s total revenue.

(i) The Group's largest supplier and the five largest suppliers
accounted for 13.5% and 54.2% respectively of the
Group's total purchases [not including purchases of items
which are of capital in nature).

According to the understanding of the Board, none of the
Directors, their associates or any Shareholders who owned
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital had any interest
in the five largest customers or the five largest suppliers.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities, and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial
years, as extracted from the audited financial statements
and restated as appropriate, is set out on page 163 to 164.
This summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Except as disclosed in the note 29 to the financial statements,
there were no movements in the Company's share capital
during the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2020, the Company's reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda (as amended) ("Companies Act”) amounted to
HK$1,003,291,000. Under the Companies Act, the Company's
contributed surplus is also available for distribution to the
Shareholders. No dividend shall be paid or distribution made
out of contributed surplus if to do so would render the
Company unable to pay its liabilities as they become due or
the realisable value of its assets would thereby become less
than its liabilities.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors:

Shum Sai Chit (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Chi Jing Chao

Non-executive Directors:

Professor Meng Jian
Tam Wai Ho, Samson JP*

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Kwong Ping Man
Cheung Sound Poon
Kwan Ngai Kit

# retired on 30 June 2020

Pursuant to Bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws, Professor Meng Jian
and Mr. Kwong Ping Man will retire by rotation and, being
eligible, offer himself for re-election at the AGM.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
AGM has a service contract with the Group which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of its Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Kwong Ping Man, Mr. Cheung
Sound Poon and Mr. Kwan Ngai Kit, an annual confirmation
confirming their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

Accordingly, the Company considers all the Independent Non-
executive Directors are independent.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

At 31 December 2020, the interests of the Directors and their
associates in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the "SFO7]], as
recorded in the register maintained by the Company under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code set out
in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:

Interests in the Shares, underlying shares and debenture of the
Company

BERESHRARAES2EERYA

Number of ordinary shares interested or deemed to be interested

= & A2

Personal
Director interests

Ly

Long position
ot

Shum Sai Chit
o B

Chi Jing Chao
2

Meng Jian

BB IR X

Kwong Ping Man
RA AR

Cheung Sound Poon
B 3% 4

Kwan Ngai Kit

KA

Short position
ki

Nil

IEALQT

E#RITRA

B8 2

Kk BREHE Q7EDS B Maaatt

Approximate
percentage of
interests in the
issued share

Family Number of Corporate capital of the

interests  options held interests Total Company

— 30,000,000 - - 0.46%

— 3,000,000 - - 0.05%

— 5,000,000 — — 0.08%

5,000,000 0.08%

— 5,000,000 - - 0.08%

4,000,000 5,000,000 - - 0.14%
(M 1)
[Note 1)
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES /continued)

Interests in the Shares, underlying shares and debenture of the
Company (continued)]

Notes:
1. 4,000,000 shares in the Company are the number of the underlying shares which

may be issued to Ms. Lee Man Ching, the spouse of Mr. Kwan Ngai Kit, under
the options

Interests in the shares of associated corporations (long position)

EENR HEEE R

Names of Directors Name of associated corporation

YRR Bt ERERER DA
Shum Sai Chit ([t 423 ])

Century Sunshine Group
Holdings Limited
("Century Sunshine’]

HE 4 Bt
Chi Jing Chao Century Sunshine
REAR it
Cheung Sound Poon Century Sunshine
A 3 LE P
Kwan Ngai Kit Century Sunshine

BARCERANAREZEERBA(HR)

Number of ordinary shares interested or deemed to be interested

(long position)

LB EE
Fi ¥ B B 1 BRTZRE
BAERZ Fk#R #E LR 2B
Y% of issued
share capital
Personal Family Number of of associated
interests interests options held Total corporation
14,666,305 - 20,000,000 34,666,305 0.76%
- 1,633,998 8,000,000 9633,988 0.21%
- - 5,000,000 5,000,000 0.11%
- - 4,000,000 4,000,000 0.09%

(H#t1)

[note 1)
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES /continued)

Interests in the shares of associated corporations (long position)
[continued)

Notes:

(1) 4,000,000 shares in Century Sunshine are the number of underlying shares
which may be issued to Ms. Lee Man Ching, the spouse of Mr. Kwan Ngai Kit,
under the options held.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2020, none of
the Directors or their associates had any interests or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
or any of its associated corporations as defined in the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

In order to attract and retain the best quality employees for
the development of the Group's businesses and to provide
additional incentives or rewards to selected qualifying
participants, the Company adopted a share option scheme on
4 December 2017 (the "Scheme”]. The qualifying participants
mainly include employees and directors of the Group and
any substantial shareholders, and the consultants or adviser,
distributors, contractors, suppliers, service providers, agent,
customer and business partner of the Group who have
contribution to the Group. The Scheme, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years since
its establishing date. The remaining life of the Scheme is
approximately 7 years [expiry on 4 December 2027).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME /Continued)

As at 31 December 2020, options to subscribe for a total of
356,400,000 Shares were outstanding under the Scheme (the
“Options”).

et et 23 =t et ¥
—A—H FRFZE FRTE FREH FR%XH +=A=+-H TEE
B ZBRE ZERE 2Rk ZBRE Exe) (B &E)
Options Options
Held at granted  Options exercised  Options cancelled lapsed Exercise
1 Janvary during during during during Held at price
2020 the year the year the year the year 31 December 2020 (note)
#
HKS
A{EE
Employees 163,400,000 - - - - 163,400,000 0.4
40,000,000 - - - (40,000,000 - 0.5
150,000,000 - (10,000,000) - - 140,000,000 0.3
BIEZ
Directors
AR 30,000,000 - - - - 30,000,000 0.4
Shum Sai Chit
k= 3,000,000 - - - - 3,000,000 0.4
Chi Jing Chao
hfE 5,000,000 - - - - 5,000,000 0.4
Meng Jian
BERATHL 5,000,000 - - - (5,000,000) - 0.4
Tam Wai Ho, Samson JP*
BAX 5,000,000 - - - - 5,000,000 0.4
Kwong Ping Man
REAR 5,000,000 - - - - 5,000,000 0.4
Cheung Sound Poon
R G 5,000,000 - - - - 5,000,000 0.4
Kwan Ngai Kit
221,400,000 - - - (5,000,000) 216,400,000 0.4
40,000,000 - - - (40,000,000 - 0.5
150,000,000 - (10,000,000) - - 140,000,000 0.3
411,400,000 - (10,000,000) - (45,000,000) 356,400,000 -

* retired on 30 June 2020
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the
senior management of the Group are set out on pages 40 to
42 of the annual report.

DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in “Directors’ interests in securities”, at no
time during the year was the Company, or any of its holding
companies, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Company’'s board of directors with reference to directors’
duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year ended 31 December 2020, a permitted
indemnity provision as defined in the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance was in force for an indemnity against Lliability
incurred by the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No Directors nor a connected entity of Directors had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to the business of
the Group to which any of the Company’s holding companies,
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SECURITIES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,

sold or redeemed any listed securities of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2020.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 December 2020, the register of substantial shareholders
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows
that other than the interests disclosed above in respect of
certain Directors, the following Shareholder had notified the
Company of relevant interests and short positions in the issued
share capital of the Company:

IRERBEE

Name of Shareholder

Ming Xin Developments Limited (#7i2145) (note 1 and 5]
New Bright Group Limited (#/772/5) (note 2 and 5)

s X R EERBR AR (M F3K5)
Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited [note 3 and 5]

X = (M it 4 k5)
Chi Wen Fu [note 4 and 5]

B

(1) 4,761,117,434 % FAMing Xin Developments Limited
BEHESR -

(2) Ming Xin Developments Limited & New Bright
Group LimitedZ 2 EM B R AF) o Ut - BEFH
RHIEEAIME -+ New Bright Group Limited #
R A% B Ming Xin Developments Limited# A& #
B2 EMBRHZESE -

(3) New Bright Group Limited &ttt 42 5 3¢ 2 & & Hf
BLom - flt ABERBEHRAmE - i
F5 Yt 4248 & ¥ & Ming Xin Developments Limited
HEREZz22MROz2ER -

(4) h 3CE ST ARt 42 15 ¢ (Ming Xin Developments
Limited 2 & & ER QBB R AN E E#EH =
DZ—HALERRE - B REHFRBE
HOImE  BXEERERR LB Ming Xin

Developments Limited # 5 # & 2 & B A 0 2 #

¢

m °

(5) RZZE-NF+_A+=8 tEBXEEER
A R A & & Ming Xin Developments Limited ({E
A E FA)KMega Prime Development Limited
(ERHBRERARNILAEDRREGZ &
I ZETAREMZABEAR ARL KB
200,000,0000% % 17 2 #E 7 K2 A # -

FiBEER LB #®T
iz 1% 8B REAZzBS
Number of ordinary % of issued
shares held share capital
4,761,117,434 (L) 72.31
200,000,000 (S) 3.04
4,761,117,434 (L) 72.31
200,000,000 (S) 3.04
4,761,117,434 (L) 72.31
200,000,000 (S) 3.04
4,761117,434 (L) 72.31
200,000,000 (S) 3.04
Note:
(1 4,761,117,434 shares are beneficially owned by Ming Xin Developments Limited.
(2) Ming Xin Developments Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of New Bright
Group Limited. As such, New Bright Group Limited is deemed to be interested
in all the shares in which Ming Xin Developments is interested by virtue of the
SFO.
(3) New Bright Group Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Century Sunshine. As
such, Century Sunshine is deemed to be interested in all the shares in which
Ming Xin Developments is interested by virtue of the SFO.
(4) Mr. Chi Wen Fu controls more than one-third or more of the voting power at

general meetings of Century Sunshine [the ultimate holding company of Ming
Xin Developments Limited). As such, Mr. Chi Wen Fu is deemed to be interested
in all the shares in which Ming Xin Developments Limited is interested by virtue
of the SFO.

(5) On 13 December 2019, Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited and Ming Xin
Developments Limited as grantors and Mega Prime Development Limited as
optionee entered into the Call Option Agreement, pursuant to which the said
grantors agreed to grant to the said optionee the right and option to acquire
200,000,000 Shares.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS /Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, the
Company had not been notified by any persons who had
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the SFO.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing
Shareholders.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Other than those disclosed in Note 36 to the financial
statements, there was no connected transaction during the
year and in prior period.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained the prescribed public float under
the Listing Rules, as at the latest practical date prior to the
printing of this report.

AUDITORS

There has been no other change in the auditors of the Company
during the past three years. HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited will retire and the Company will propose a resolution
at its forthcoming AGM to reappoint HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited as auditors of the Company.

By order of the Board

Mr. Shum Sai Chit
Chairman

Hong Kong

26 March 2021

HLB) & #7 &t @ ¥ 4 5 4 m A 4
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED
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By BEHRE
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

31/F, Gloucester Tower BB

The Landmark IR

11 Pedder Street EITH115%
Central BEHES

Hong Kong HERTITREE

To the Shareholders of

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
(In Provisional Liquidation)

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
(the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”] set out on pages 58 to 162, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the
matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section
of our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit
opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all other
respects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Material uncertainties relating to the going concern basis

As explained in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements,
on 3 July 2020, the Company announced [i] Century Sunshine
Group Holding Limited ("CS”), the controlling shareholder of
the Company, defaulted on the redemption of the SGD101.75
million in principal amount of subordinated notes [the “CS
Payment Default’); (i) the Company had received demand from
one of the bank creditors for the repayment of borrowings of
the Company or its subsidiaries of approximately HK$22.87
million plus interest accrued and believed it was likely to
receive further calls from its creditors; and (i) a winding up
petition has been submitted on 3 July 2020 to the Supreme
Court of Bermuda together with the application for the
appointment of the joint provisional liquidators ("JPLs") on a
“light touch” basis for debt restructuring purpose. The JPLs
were appointed pursuant to an order granted by the Supreme
Court of Bermuda on 16 July 2020 and granted by the High
Court in Hong Kong on 25 August 2020.

Further, as explained in Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$74,011,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020, and,
as of that date, the Group’'s current liabilities exceeded its
current assets by approximately HK$180,801,000. Its current
and non-current borrowings amounted to HK$796,938,000 and
HK$75,381,000 as at 31 December 2020 respectively, while its
cash and cash equivalents amounted to only HK$36,104,000.
In addition, the Group could not fulfil certain covenants
relating to certain borrowings of the Group amounting to
HK$760,580,000 as at 31 December 2020, which have become
immediately repayable on demand of the lenders. Included
in the other borrowings of the Group as at 31 December
2020 are borrowings of HK$154,686,000 which the lender
have commenced litigations against the Group to repay the
outstanding balances on 22 February 2021.
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The conditions described above indicate the existence of
material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’'s ability to continue as a going concern. The directors
have been undertaking certain measures to improve the
Group’s liquidity and financial position, as set out in Note 3
to the consolidated financial statements. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis, the validity of which depends on the successful eventual
outcome of these measures, which as at the date of this report
cannot be ascertained with reasonable certainty and are still
subject to multiple uncertainties, including whether [i] the
JPLs and the Company will be able to finalise the Proposed
Restructuring Plan for the restructuring of the debts and
liabilities of the Group after consultations with the creditors
of the Group and obtain the sanctions of the relevant courts
for the Schemes of Arrangement for the implementation of
the finalised Proposed Restructuring Plan; and (i) the Group
is able to implement further cost control measures on capital
investments, production and administrative operations to
reduce overall operating costs of the Group.

Should the Group fail to achieve successful outcomes from the
above-mentioned plans and measures, it might not be able to
continue to operate as a going concern, and adjustments would
have to be made to write down the carrying value of the Group’s
assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for further
liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities respectively. The effects of these adjustments have
not been reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

We have not been provided with sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to conclude on the appropriateness of
management’'s use of the going concern basis of accounting
in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
because management’s plans for future actions in relation to
its going concern assessment could not be finalized yet. Any
adjustments found to be required may have consequential
significant effects on the consolidated net assets of the
Group as at 31 December 2020 and the consolidated loss and
other comprehensive income or loss and cash flows of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2020, and the related
elements and disclosures thereof presented or disclosed in the
consolidated financial statements.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (the "HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA") and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs"] issued by the HKICPA and to issue an
auditor’s report solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
However, because of the matter described in the Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we were not
able to form an audit opinion on these consolidated financial
statements.
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We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”], and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities

in accordance with the Code.

The engagement director on the

audit resulting in

independent auditors’ report is Kwok Tsz Chun.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Kwok Tsz Chun

Practising Certificate Number: P06901

Hong Kong, 26 March 2021
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RS B A AR R

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

HEZZ-ZTF+ A=+ —HLEFJE For the year ended 31 December 2020

EFEXY) —2—h&

Bt 5E

Notes

EPEYYY ==

2020 2019
FTEx FiEx
HK$'000 HK$'000

2020 2019
B X FExT mwi: %
Notes HK$'000 HK$’000
WA Revenue 6 744,836 1,515,291
5 & AKX Cost of sales (614,665)  (1,099,085)
E A ~ Gross profit 130,171 416,206
Hig AR EM U - JFEE  Other income and other gains, net 6 8,155 12,152
HERDHEH Selling and distribution expenses (8,506) (15,615)
1T > i Administrative expenses (100,611) (77,551)
B 7% & Finance costs 8 (97,857) (72,064)
BAT(BE), ER (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7 (68,648) 263,128
Frig i B Income tax expense 11 (5,363) (53,396)
FE(ER) & (Loss)/profit for the year (74,011) 209,732
Htt2EB A (ZH) OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/
(EXPENSES)
BEHEE ZEE Other comprehensive income/
Eamt)BEM2EHKA lexpenses] to be reclassified
(ZH4) - to profit or loss in subsequent
periods:
MEBINEBH 2BEHZE  Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations 131,071 (79,605)
FEEHEZEERA S Other comprehensive income/
(X)) BB/ (expenses) for the year, net of
income tax 131,071 (79,605)
FEXHEHBALERE TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR 57,060 130,127
THALTEIEFEE(EE),  (Loss)/profit for the year
mA attributable to:
ZIN/NETE? N Owners of the Company (74,011) 209,732
TIIALTEEFAZE Total comprehensive income
LN for the year attributable to:
VIN/NESTE N Owners of the Company 57,060 130,127
BR(EE) BF: (Loss)/earnings per share:
—BEXRXKREE — basic and diluted 13 (1124 cents) 3.191l cents

ERBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
ME - WEREHE Property, plant and equipment 14 1,650,042 1,524,989
TREEE Right-of-use assets 15 52,981 50,928
BEEE Intangible assets 16 32,141 34,661
B Mining rights 17 48,760 45,899
BEBRITER Pledged bank deposits 21 — 9,549
EMEBEBEELT Total non-current assets 1,783,924 1,666,026
REEE CURRENT ASSETS
E=Y Inventories 18 287,135 186,807
EREZEREKEIWEIE  Trade and bills receivables 19 172,292 151,471
TERRIE  Be Kk Prepayments, deposits and
H th & W K18 other receivables 20 256,753 287,879

A] Y B 7 18 Tax recoverable 10,439 —
EEARITER Pledged bank deposits 21 10,185 7,328
ReELRESZFMEEE Cash and cash equivalents 21 36,104 254,813
mEE E R Total current assets 772,908 888,298
REEE CURRENT LIABILITIES
FET B SRR Trade payables 22 36,216 47993
HthEMNRBLREFER  Other payables and accruals 23 72,603 25,211
BHEE Contract liabilities 23 13,993 19,742
R Borrowings 24 796,938 315,765
MR ES Convertible bond 27 - 385,072
J& A5 B 3K Tax payable — 10,794
JER—RREHIE Amount due to a shareholder 25 33,959 —
mBBEERE Total current liabilities 953,709 804,577
RE(E8E) EEFE NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/

ASSETS (180,801) 83,721
EERERABARG TOTAL ASSETS LESS

CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,603,123 1,749,747

BE P 2 P S B AN AR A B A% R 2 MK

#5 -

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
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mEESEER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HEZZ-ZTF+ A=+ —HLEFJE For the year ended 31 December 2020

=t St 20 —F— N F
2020 2019
B 5% FExT FExT
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
krRBER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
iIE & U A Deferred revenue 26 72,834 68,283
& 3K Borrowings 24 75,381 171,677
REEHIBEE Deferred tax liabilities 28 2,986 8,872
JEf — R E 2 58 Amount due to a shareholder 25 — 113,028
B BEESE Total non-current liabilities 151,201 361,860
EEFRE NET ASSETS 1,451,922 1,387,887
& EQUITY
EAREBEANELESR Equity attributable to owners of
the Company
B TR Issued capital 29 658,439 657,439
1B Reserves 31 793,483 730,448
EEAE TOTAL EQUITY 1,451,922 1,387,887

RESSEFIQBE 2 HEAMBHRERNR
E-—F-A-t+ R HEKEFSEHL
RETE YR MIEEREREE:

Mt ELEE
Mr. Shum Sai Chit
EE

Director

BEF 2 M s R AR A MBS R 2 X

D o
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The consolidated financial statements on pages 58 to 162 were
approved and authorised for issued by the board of directors

on 26 March 2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

MEE L
Mr. Chi Jing Chao
=

Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

g
2817 R BAEE EHFkE BRE ERRD RE
RA EER i e RE ZERE SHERFE HUHEE i b-Eil B
Share Capital  Convertible Share Exchange
Issved  premium redemption bonds equity option  Statutory Merger Other  fluctuation  Retained
capital  account  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve reserve  reserve  reserve earnings Total
T#r T#x TiEx TEx TEx TEx TEx Ti#x TExT TET T#Exn
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000  HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
B 2E ) it 2 (i) B2 ()
MR RG) KRG RO R Rl WG KRG BE0)
Note (i) Note (i) Note (i)
Note (i) & (ii) Note i) Note (i) & (iii) &Giv)  Note (i) Note (i) Note (i)
RZE-N§—A—H As at 1 January 2019 657,439 1,560,077 419 86,548 8,364 104,882 (1500,592) (22,233) [(139,068) 515,381 1,271,217
FRET Profit for the year - - - - - - - - —- 209732 209732
EEEMAE(ZEH),/  Other comprehensive
WA MR AEH: [expense)/income for the
year, net of income tax:
BEBNEBMEEZ  Exchange differences
ERER arising from translations
of foreign operations - - - - - - - - (79,60 = (79,605
FE2AE(KE)/ WA Total comprehensive
BE [loss)/income
for the year - - - - - - - - [79,605) 209,732 130,127
BERRE Dividend paid - - - - - - - - - (32872)  (32.872)
REEERSR R Equity settled share based
225 transactions - - - - 19415 - - - - - 19,415
EREHRE Transfer to reserve - - - - - 8,553 - - - (8553 -
R-B-h%F As at 31 December 2019
+ZRA=+-Ak and 1 January 2020
ZZ-ZZFE-A-H 657,439 1,560,077 419 86,548 27,779 113435 (1500,592) (22,233) (218,673] 683,688 1,387,887
FEBEE Loss for the year - - - - - - - - - (7401 (74011)
FEEMEARAEE - Other comprehensive
M mES: income for the year,
net of income tax:
BEBNEBMEELZ  Exchange differences
ERER arising from translations
of foreign operations - - - - - - - - 13107 - 131,071
FE2AE(ZH) /WA Total comprehensive
BE lexpensel/income
for the year - - - - - - - - 131071 [74,011) 57,060
IEERE Exercise of share options 1,000 2,557 - - (557) - - - - - 3,000
BAMERE Share option lapsed - - - - (2477 - - - - 2477 -
REEERG TR Equity settled share based
%5 transactions - - - - 3975 - - - - - 3,975
ERZFE Transfer to reserve - - - - - 2,414 - - - (2,414) -
EREEWARESEE  Transfer to equity of
convertible bonds - - - [86,548] - - - - — 86,548 -
RZEZTF As at 31 December 2020
+-ZA=+-H 658,439 1,562,634 419 — 28720 115,849 (1,500,592) (22,233)  (87,602) 696,288 1,451,922
BN R BT RERAR
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B -

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

iv)
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Note:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$793,483,000
[2019: HK$730,448,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of the Shares of the
Company which was transferred from the Company's retained earnings upon
repurchase and cancellation of Shares by the Company.

Statutory reserve mainly represents the fund set aside by the subsidiaries based
on 10% of their net profit of the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC") statutory
financial statements and that for the purpose of certain safety production
activities.

In accordance with the articles of association of the subsidiaries established
in the PRC and the relevant PRC rules and regulations, these subsidiaries
are required to set aside 10% of their profit after income tax as recorded in
the PRC statutory financial statements as statutory reserve, except where the
reserve fund balance has reached 50% of the subsidiaries’ registered capital.
The reserve fund can only be used to make good the subsidiaries’ previous
years’ losses, to expand the subsidiaries’ production operations or to increase
the capital of the subsidiaries.

Pursuant to certain regulations issued by the State Administration of Work Safety
of the PRC and other relevant regulatory bodies, the Group is required to set
aside funds mainly for mining of dolomite and serpentine at prescribed rates.
These funds can be used for maintenance and/or improvements of safety of these
activities, and is not available for distribution to shareholders.

Merger reserve was arising on the application of merger accounting method in
relation to the combination with entity under common control.

GEBHERER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEZZ-ZTF+ A=+ —HLEFJE For the year ended 31 December 2020

=t Sk 2 —F—NF
2020 2019
B 3 FiEx R P
Notes HK$'000 HK$’000
REXBCRAETRE CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
AT (&), % A (Loss)/profit before tax (68,648) 263,128
o Adjustments for:
M E R Finance costs 8 97,857 72,064
LA RS #E 45 B 2 BB AR # Equity-settled share option expenses

g H 30 3,975 19,415
RITH B U A Bank interest income b (418) (1,401)
HEME  BEK Gain on disposal of items of

REEE Z W property, plant and equipment 6 (497) (662)
mME- -BEEKEBZ Depreciation of property,

e plant and equipment 14 97,963 86,277
CRAREECTE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 15 1,273 1,320
BB E 2 #BH Amortisation of intangible assets 16 4,587 4,549
PRUE A 2 B 8E Amortisation of mining right 17 188 400
e R HMEWKFKIEZ  Allowance for expected credit loss

EHEEBEREE on deposits and other receivables 20 10 174
JEWESERTEHIEER  Reversal of allowance for expected

/&5 18 # (O] credit loss on trade receivables 19 1,649 (1,784)

LEEREHAKE Operating cash flows before changes

REnE in working capital 137,939 443,480
FEEN Increase in inventories (83,463) (44,558)
JE W B 5 BR 3 % B WL (Increase)/decrease in trade and bill

S & (8 )R A receivables (11,836) 65,131
ENRE e Decrease/(increase) in prepayments,

H th /& WK 1B deposits and other receivables

B (&) 47,775 (117,591)
FERTE SERFR A, (3 IN) Decrease/lincrease) in trade payables (14,223) 7,206
H fth fE F 5RIE 2 HoAth Decrease in other payables and

JE st & AR accruals (14,116) (5,504)
KREXB (A mE Cash generated from operations

ZHRE 62,076 348,164
28N IR Overseas taxes paid (32,288) (58,026)
KEEB2REBMAFFE  Net cash flows generated from

operating activities 29,788 290,138
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
HEZZ-_ZF+=-A=1+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2020

=t Jk 28 —F—NF
2020 2019
B 3 Ti#&x FEx
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
REXBZHERE CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
A B U A Interest received 418 1,401
EHEMIRITE IO D Decrease in pledged bank deposits 7,424 6,875
PEWE  WMEKKHER  Proceeds from disposal of property,
18 ;K18 plant and equipment 1,007 —
BAME BBENMKEB Purchases of items of property,
TH H plant and equipment 14 (102,213) (114,891
WEEBH RS ML FRE  Net cash flows used in investing
activities (93,364) (106,615)
BMEXB.HRERE CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
% E Finance costs (9,864) (20,303)
2’ E Dividend paid — (32,872)
BRMIEHRIE Proceeds from borrowings — 179164
EEB/N Repayment of borrowings (44,677) (71,169)
f& ®E FOR D Decrease in shareholder’s loan (96,469) (86,924)
AT BB 12 Issue of ordinary shares upon
TIRITE B exercise of share options 3,000 —
BMEXEB2HE ML FEE  Net cash flows used in financing
activities (148,010) (32,104)
fﬁﬁwﬁﬁ%{alﬁaz NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN
WD), 18 F CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (211,586) 151,419
i%ﬂzfﬁi&fﬁ Z£ {81 Cash and cash equivalents at
E beginning of year 254,813 131,276
ONEE[E R PR - F R Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net (7,123) (27.882)
FRzZAERAESEE CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
HH AT END OF YEAR 36,104 254,813
ReRAELESEEBAE  ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF
oM CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
R e MIRITHEH Cash and bank balances 21 36,104 254,813

BERT 2 Mt iE S AR AR B K < K
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEZZ-ZTF+ A=+ —HLEFJE For the year ended 31 December 2020

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Rare Earth Technology Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The principal place of business of the Company
s located at Suite 1105, 11th Floor, Tower 6, The Gateway,
9 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the vyear, the Group was involved in the
manufacture and sale of magnesium products.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding
company of the Company is Ming Xin Development
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands and in provisional liquidation since 16 July 2020,
and the ultimate holding company is Alpha Sino Limited,
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is the same as
the functional currency of the Company. All values are
rounded to the nearest thousand (HK$'000) except when
otherwise indicated.
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B 75 3R 3% B 3 (4&) B %5 ¥R 3% B 5 (4&)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HEZZ-_TF+ZA=+—HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE2_Z-_ZTF+-A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2020

rAIREEER (#) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 2AREEER (2 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION /continued)
ARAlz £ EME AR LS Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are EREFERZERBEEREA Winding-up petitions and appointment of provisional liquidators
" 29 follows NZE_ZTEF+H=H " ARFA On 3 July 2020, the Company announced [i] Century
mOAARIIEREKRRELE S Sunshine Group Holding Limited ("CS”], the controlling
HMAL/ BROEER/ ARTEERE BERRE EERERAR (LR K] EE shareholder of the Company, defaulted in the redemption
HRREERYE HRRAEE 2B 4] A FE [0l K5 2 §8 /3101,750,000 % AN of its SGDD101.75 million in principal amount of
Place of incorporation/  Nominal value of Percentage of Proportion Wz FmiEEZEE(HLE X subordinated notes (the “CS Payment Default”); (i) the
a2% registration and issued ordinary share/ equity attributable ofvoting EEEH NRED]D (AR R _E-= Company had received on 30 June 2020 a demand from
Name business registered capital to the Company power held  Principal activities EXNB=tHEEHED—ZETE one of the bank creditors for the repayment of borrowings
B R BAZRARAISENBERAE of the Company or its subsidiaries of approximately
Direct Indirect 2 H #922,750,000% T & 5K 5 hn g HK$22.75 million plus interest accrued and believed it
FENHBELBEERAT &% 1% 7T _ 100 100% BEER Ej:ﬂ /%\\’ HE@\%ﬁﬂﬁE@g%@J & was likely to receive further calls from its creditors;
Hong Kong New Materials Hong Kong HK$1 Investment Holding *E/\EIU}E\_ZF@%] A B e A (i) the CS Payment Default constituted an event of
Industry Investment Holding BABKAERE TERNERD default in respect of certain borrowings of the Group,
EH - HARNBIZRERERZ (V) — which became immediately payable on demand; (iv) a
NERAEHRBERAR HE AE#171.800,0007 - 100 100% BERHEELBE MEREFERLZTETHRAERRS winding-up petition has been filed on 3 July 2020 to the
(FEED)) BBER BATHRARKEERADZBHFED Supreme Court of Bermuda on behalf of the Company
Xinjiang Tengxiang Magnesium The PRC RMB171,800,000 Manufacture and trading REARTINVN -_ZE-_FTF+A=H together with an application for the appointment of joint
Products Company Limited of magnesium related MBREREERIER EAIIE provisional liquidators ("JPLs”) on a “light touch” basis
(Xinjiang Tengsiang’) products B RAITE  BIARAIESE that the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”)
(Ex=g)hBEBEARRGF - Mt will retain management of the Company while the JPLs
BLTAZREBEBERRAR +E A RS RA - 100 100% BERHELEBHE FERERAGTHARBTEE— will work alongside the Company’'s management to,
AR %280,332,0007T RBEM EEIR(EHhemEE B8 amongst other things, monitor, supervise and oversee the

Baishan City Tianan Magnesium ~ The PRC

Registered and paid

Manufacturing and trading

MERYEEEEETEZERME

implementation of a group-wide holistic and coordinated

Resources Company Limited up capital of of magnesium-related mANEENaEEH(ZRE restructuring of its debts and liabilities (the "Proposed
RMB280,332,000 products HEtE ] BRAEFIRRERE Restructuring Plan”] including to maintain the listing of
i A s = =
. \ e . RBMAERANFN LT - the Company on the Stock Exchange of the Hong Kon
CERSHRERARRT  BE 3087 - W 0% RERE o Limited. : S
China Rare Earth Magnesium Hong Kong HK$10,310 Investment holdings '

Technology Holdings Limited

EREBIESRB/EAKEHZA
FEXFEREAREIARALE
BMEEFEZIZHN 2ARA
MEAR E=ZRAL REHM
MBARZFBHERENBR
Uk e
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The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result
in particulars of excessive length.

N_ZE_ZTF+A+"A BRE
EeARBEMm—EHem T EER
KIEEVBRBEBERAR ZEER
EERBRER LT - WXKERRQT
Z Roy Bailey 5t & LA &2 EY Cayman
LtdZ Tammy Karina FuZ = &A&R
AIHAEREESEA UETEHL
R RERI 2N - RZEZZFN
AR BREEZREXBELER
S 2 B E - ™A B Roy Bailey %t
4 ~ Tammy Karina FuZ = + K& &k
BEXTERARBRIEE AN
BEESRIEFRER -

RZEBE-ZZFEFNAZ-ZTHB  FF
BRITHRES S iREet g8 @
EEAZTHRAGRBEEANR

AL .

On 16 July 2020, an order was granted by the Supreme
Court of Bermuda for the appointment of Mr. Yen Ching
Wai David and Ms. So Kit Yee Anita of Ernst & Young
Transactions Limited, Mr. Roy Bailey of Ernst & Young,
and Ms. Tammy Karina Fu of EY Cayman Ltd as JPLs of
the Company with the power to act jointly and severally.
On 7 August 2020, the Bermuda Court also accepted
the resignation of Mr. Yen Ching Wai David. The JPLs
appointment order remains in force in respect of Mr. Roy
Bailey, Ms. Tammy Karina Fu and Ms. So Kit Yee Anita as
JPLs.

On 25 August 2020, the High Court of The Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region has granted the recognition
order in respect of the appointment and powers of the
JPLs in Hong Kong.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework
in HKFRS Standards and the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HKICPA") for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning
on or after 1 January 2020 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Definition of Material
HKAS 8
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Reform

In addition, the Group has early applied the Amendment
to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions.

The application of the Amendments to References to
the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and
the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments'
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?
Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and Phase 2¢

HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets

HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use?

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract?

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020?

Amendments to HKFRSs

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
? Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all new and amendments to HKFRSs will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Preparation

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all
the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs, issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited ("Listing Rules’] and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance ("CO").

Going concern

During year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
recorded loss of approximately HK$74,011,000, and, as
of that date, the Group's current liabilities exceeded
its current assets by approximately HK$180,801,000.
Further, as at 31 December 2020, the Group’s current
and non-current borrowings amounted to approximately
HK$796,938,000 and HK$75,381,000 while its cash
and cash equivalents only amounted to approximately
HK$36,104,000. As stated in note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements, CS had defaulted in repayment of
its bonds of principal amount of SGD101.75 million plus
interests accrued when they fell due on their maturity
date on 3 July 2020 and the Company had received
demand from one of its bank creditors for repayment of
the borrowings of the Group of approximately HK$22.87
million. The Group could not fulfil certain covenants
relating to certain borrowings amounting to approximately
HK$760,580,000 as at 31 December 2020, which have
become repayable on demand and are presented as
current liabilities in the consolidated statement of
financial position. Included in the other borrowings of the
Group were borrowings of approximately HK$154,686,000
which the lender have commenced litigations against the

Group to repay the outstanding balances on 22 February
2027,
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of Preparation (Continued)

Going concern (Continued)

The conditions described above indicate the existence of
a material uncertainty that cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore,
the Group may be unable to realize its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

The Company is actively exploring options to restructure
the debts of the Group and intends to implement a
management led restructuring by taking advantage of
the court-supervised provisional liquidation regime in
Bermuda, commonly known as a “light touch” provisional
liquidation, which gives the Company the benefit of a
statutory moratorium prohibiting the commencement or
continuance of any proceedings against the Company
without the leave of the Supreme Court of Bermuda.
The Company is actively considering to develop a viable
Proposed Restructuring Plan, including but not limited to
some or all of the followings:

1. equity restructuring to facilitate the raising of cash
for the Company from third party investors through
equity issue.

2. a debt restructuring that may involve refinancing
and/or a compromise or arrangement of debts and
liabilities of the Group.

It is expected that the Proposed Restructuring
Plan will be implemented by way of Schemes of
Arrangement [the “Schemes”) with the creditors of
the companies in provisional liquidation, including
the Company. The Schemes are likely subject to the
sanctions of the relevant courts.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of Preparation /Continued)]

Going concern [Continued)]

3. potential investment in the Company from one or
more third party investor(s) to facilitate raising of
cash for the Company and potential disposal of non-
core business and non-operating fixed assets of the
Group.

4. In addition, the Company plans to implement further
cost control measures on capital investments,
production and administrative operations to reduce
overall operating costs of the Group.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that
it Is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on going concern basis. These consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, the validity of which depends upon the
Group being able to successfully negotiate and agree with
the creditors to renew or extend the existing borrowings
or complete debt financing to provide funds for the
Group to meet its liabilities as they fall due. This in turn
is dependent upon (i) the JPLs and the Company being
able to finalise the Proposed Restructuring Plan after
consultations with the creditors of the Group; and (ii] the
sanctions of the Schemes will be successfully obtained
from the relevant courts.

As at the date of approval for issuance of the consolidated
financial statements, the Proposed Restructuring Plan has
not been formulated yet and the eventual outcome of the
Proposed Restructuring Plan cannot be determined with
reasonable certainty. Accordingly, the material uncertainty
that cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern remains in existence as at the date
of approval for issuance of the consolidated financial
statements. Should the Group be unable to continue as a
going concern, adjustments would have to be made to the
consolidated financial statement to write down the carrying
values of the Group's assets to their recoverable amounts,
to provide for further liabilities which might arise and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities
as current assets and current liabilities, respectively. The
effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

E-E-_FTF+ A=+ —BIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2020

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of Preparation (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis. Historical cost is generally
based on the fair value of the consideration given in
exchange for assets.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payments,
leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
16, and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of Preparation /Continued)]

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

e level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted] in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
(including structured entities) controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

o has power over the investee;
° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

®* has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

E-E-_FTF+ A=+ —BIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2020

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Company gains control until the
date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to being their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity],
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee [i.e. existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(a] The contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c] the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
profit or loss to the extent of dividends received and
receivables. The Company’s investments in subsidiaries
are stated at cost less any impairment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

E-T-FTF+-A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2020

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the
definitions of an asset and a liability in the Framework for
the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements
(replaced by the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting issued in October 2010).

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree or
share-based payment arrangements of the Group
entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment
at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy
below);

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard; and
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T_FTF+ A=+ —HBIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2020

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases
for which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months
of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset
is of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised
and measured at the same amount as the relevant
lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or
unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with
market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at
acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree
and the fair value of the acquirer’'s previously held
interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the relevant subsidiary’'s net assets in the event of
liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes a contingent consideration
arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured
at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of
the consideration transferred in a business combination.
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments are
adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments
are adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the “measurement period” (which cannot
exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.
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E-E-_FTF+ A=+ —BIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2020

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
[Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement period
adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration
is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting
dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified
as an asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at
subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date [i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control], and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising
from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition
date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS ¢
would be accounted for on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had disposed directly of the
previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
retrospectively during the measurement period [see
above), and additional assets or liabilities are recognised,
to reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised at
that date.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when [or as]) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series
of distinct goods or services that are substantially the
same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

o the Group's performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.
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E-E-_FTF+ A=+ —BIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2020

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration [or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a
contract are accounted for an presented on a net basis.

Revenue from the processing and sales of magnesium
products is recognised at a point in time when control
of the products has transferred, being at the point the
products are delivered to the customer and the customer
has accepted the products, and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance
of the products. Delivery occurs when the products
have been shipped to the specified location, the risks
of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the
customer, and either the customer has accepted the
products in accordance with the sales contract, the
acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the Group has
objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have
been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the
price specified in the contract, net of discounts, returns
and value added taxes.

A receivable is recognised when the products are
delivered and the customers accept the products, as this
is the point in time that the consideration is unconditional
because only the passage of time is required before the
payment is due.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Government Grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants related to income that become
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related costs
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
they become receivable. Such grants are presented under
“other income and other gains, net”.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment, are tangible assets
that are held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes (other
than construction in progress], are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs
capitalised in accordance with the Group’'s accounting
policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as
other property assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production
or for its own use purposes. Construction in progress
is carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss.
Construction in progress is classified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of
these assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended
use.
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E-T-FTF+-A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2020

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests
of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that
is accounted for as an operating lease is presented as
‘right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement of
financial position. When the consideration cannot be
allocated reliably between non-lease building element
and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land,
the entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for
on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included
in profit or loss in the period in which the item is
derecognised.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease

Lease is a contract contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components, including contract
for acquisition of ownership interests of a property which
includes both leasehold land and non-lease building
components, unless such allocation cannot be made
reliably.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component.
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E-E-_FTF+ A=+ —BIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2020

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases [Continued)]

The Group as a lessee (Continued)]

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of machinery and equipment
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option.
It also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-
value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on
a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the
lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs
are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases [Continued)]
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets [Continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise:

J fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;
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E-T-FTF+-A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2020

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases [Continued)]
The Group as a lessee (Continued)]

Lease liabilities (Continued)

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or
rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

o the amount expected to be payable by the lessee
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee
is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease Lliabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases [Continued)]

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

o the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review/expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the
initial discount rate.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the
Group applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts
for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as
a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.
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E-E-_FTF+ A=+ —BIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2020

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Lease maodifications (Continued)

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components.

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has
elected to apply the practical expedient not to assess
whether the change is a lease modification if all of the
following conditions are met:

o the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the
lease immediately preceding the change;

o any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June 2027;
and

o there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts
for changes in lease payments resulting from rent
concessions the same way it would account for the
changes applying HKFRS 16 if the changes are not a lease
modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments
are accounted for as variable lease payments. The related
lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts
forgiven or waived with a corresponding adjustment
recognised in the profit or loss in the period in which the
event occurs.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible Assets

Intangible Assets Acquired in a Business Combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
identified and recognised separately from goodwill where
they satisfy the definition of an intangible asset and their
fair values can be measured reliably. The cost of such
intangible assets is recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives
is provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. Alternatively, assets with indefinite useful
lives are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
[Continued)

Intangible Assets (Continued]
Patent

Expenditure on acquired patent is capitalised and
amortised using the straight-line method over its
estimated useful life of 9 to 16 years, from the date when
the patent is available for use.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets, and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that
these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss [if any). Intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not
yet available for use are tested for impairment at least
annually, and whenever there is an indication that they
may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can
be established. The recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets, and intangible assets other than goodwill /Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating
unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with
the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating
units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit or the group of cash-generating
units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced
below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal [if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have
been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
[Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets, and intangible assets other than goodwill /Continued)]

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units] is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Mining Rights

Mining rights, including transferred exploration and
evaluation assets, are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses. The mining
rights are amortised on the production quantities over
the total estimated mineral reserve. Mining rights are
written off to the profit or loss if the mining property is
abandoned.

Foreign Currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the functional currency (i.e. the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates] at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates
of the transactions.

At the end of each reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when
the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign Currencies (Continued]

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary items,
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation
of non-monetary items carried at fair value, are included
in profit or loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’'s
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group [i.e. HK$) at the rates of exchange
prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Income and
expenses are translated at the average exchange rates
for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity (i.e.
the translation reserve) [(attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving
loss of joint control over jointly controlled entity that
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of significant influence over an associate that includes
a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.
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E-E-_FTF+ A=+ —BIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2020

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
[Continued)

Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement Benefit Costs
Pension Schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the "MPF
Scheme”] under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The Group also operates a defined contribution staff
retirement scheme registered under the Occupational
Retirement Schemes Ordinance (the "ORSO Scheme”] for
its employees (including certain directors], the assets of
which are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the eligible employees” basic
salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the ORSO Scheme.
When an employee leaves the ORSO Scheme prior to
his/her interest in the Group's employer contributions
vesting fully, the ongoing contributions payable by the
Group may be reduced by the relevant amount of forfeited
contributions.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Retirement Benefit Costs (Continued)

Pension Schemes [Continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in Mainland China are required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the central pension scheme.

Payments to defined contribution retirement plans are
charged as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without taking
into consideration all non-market vesting conditions is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group's estimate of equity instruments
that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share option reserve]. At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the
number of equity instruments expected to vest based on
assessment of all relevant non-market vesting conditions.
The impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred
to share premium. When the share options are forfeited
after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share
option reserve will be transferred to retained profits.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

E-E-_FTF+ A=+ —BIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2020

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
[Continued)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprises of cash in
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group's cash management.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years, and it further excludes items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax Is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the
extent that is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease Lliabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary
differences on initial recognition of the relevant right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised
due to application of the initial recognition exemption.
Temporary differences arising from subsequent revision
to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease
liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject to
initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date
of remeasurement or modification.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
[Continued)

Taxation (Continued]

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority. Current and deferred tax is
recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. In the case of work in progress and
finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Cost is
calculated using the weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make sale.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)]

Initial recognition and measurement [Continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied
the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for "Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest ("SPPI”)
on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets
with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective
of the business model. The Group’'s business model for
managing financial assets refers to how it manages its
financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The
business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in order
to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets
classified and measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income are held within a business model
with the objective of both holding to collect contractual
cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
[Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement [Continued)]

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)]

Initial recognition and measurement [Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets [Continued)]

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses ("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at
fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on
the difference between the contractual cash flows due
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

FEEHHRBE 2

RERHEME@MEES)
N ERR G EE)
tHMEEREBEE)

>

J— N

EHEEEESWERERER -
MEVEEREL RBEE NN
EERKRME  €48%KKI2@EA
(A AEHEEREIB)JTRERE
MENEHEMEENEEEBEE
HEEBERE HEVKRER
REBZLZNONEERRMS -
THAEZEEEY  RETRR
E%WMﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁEﬁmﬁm
EEBEE(HBEHEEERE)-

EMmERS  AEEFEHSH
IE%V%H ERURCRFEl P
7@%?W°¢ﬁ%ﬁ%’$%
lﬁ?i@lﬁﬂ%iﬁﬁﬁﬁ

ZOMAREZSBRITARNS
%wﬁﬁﬁﬁ@mmﬂ& Rizke=
BHELENTWEKAKFE DA

AESNAEREEEBENER
BIEESL RBIEEER -

=1

3.

Bt 3% 35 2% B 5E (4R)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

E-E-_FTF+ A=+ —BIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2020

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
[Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement [Continued)]

Impairment of financial assets [Continued]

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided
for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECLJ.
For those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the
timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)]

Initial recognition and measurement [Continued)

Impairment of financial assets [Continued)]

General approach [Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a
financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash
flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial assets at amortised
cost are subject to impairment under the general
approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach as
detailed below

Stage 1T —  Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage 2 —  Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3~ —  Financial assets that are credit-impaired at
the reporting date (but that are not purchased
or originated credit-impaired) and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
[Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement [Continued)]

Impairment of financial assets [Continued]

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised costing using the effective interest method or
at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables,
other payables and accruals, borrowings, convertible
bonds and amount due to a shareholder.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial Lliabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings after initial recognition, interest-
bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost.

Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
[Continued)

Related Parties Transactions

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(1) A person or a close member of that person’s family
is related to the Group if that person:

(]  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group.

or

(2)  The party is an entity where any of the following
condition applies:

(i]  The entity and the Group are members of the
same group.

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity).

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party.
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3.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related Parties Transactions /Continued)

(iv] One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

(v] The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the Group
or an entity related to the Group. If the Group
is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers
of the post-employment benefit plan.

(vi] The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (1).

(vii] A person identified in (1){i] has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

(a) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse
or domestic partner.

A transaction is considered to be a related party
transaction when there is a transfer of resources or
obligations between related parties.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
[Continued)

Segment Reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group's most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources to,
and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various
lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share
a majority of these criteria.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’'s accounting policies
which are described in Note 3, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgments, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY /Continued)

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

(a)  Estimated Impairment of Mining Rights, Right-of-use Assets,
Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets

The Group evaluates whether mining rights, right-
of-use assets, property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets have suffered any impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of the assets
may not be recoverable, in accordance with the
accounting policy stated in Note 3. The recoverable
amounts of CGUs represent the higher of the asset’s
fair value less costs to sell or its value-in-use. The
calculations of fair value less costs to sell or value-
in-use require the use of estimates. During the
year, the Group did not provide any impairment for
mining rights, right-of-use assets, property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets (2019: HK$ Nill.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY /Continued)

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Estimated Useful Lives of Right-of-use Assets, Property, Plant
and Equipment, Intangible Assets and Mining Rights

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation/amortisation
charges for its right-of-use assets, property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets. This estimate
is based on the historical experience of the actual
useful lives of right-of-use assets, property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets of similar
nature and functions and the mineral reserve
determined by independent technical adviser. It
could change significantly as a result of technical
innovations and competitor actions in response to
market conditions. Management will increase the
depreciation/amortisation charge where useful lives
are less than previously estimated lives, or it will
write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-
strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and
2019, the Group did not change the estimated useful
lives of right-of-use assets, property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and mining rights.

Income Tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. There are certain transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
may be uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities
for anticipated tax issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the current and deferred tax
provisions in the period in which such determination
is made.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY /Continued)

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty /(Continued)

(d)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs
for trade receivables. The provision rates are based
on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments that have similar loss patterns [i. e., by
geography, product type, customer type and rating,
and coverage by letters of credit and other forms of
credit insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will
calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit
loss experience with forward-looking information.
For instance, if forecast economic conditions
(i.e., gross domestic products] are expected to
deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an
increased number of defaults in the manufacturing
sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At
each reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are updated and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount
of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances
and forecast economic conditions. The Group’'s
historical credit loss experience and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative
of customer’'s actual default in the future. The
information about the ECLs on the Group's trade
receivables is disclosed in notes 5 and 19 to the
financial statements.
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9. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported internally to the chief operating
decision makers for the purpose of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance focuses on
types of goods or services delivered or provided. The
Group is principally engaged in one single segment, which
is manufacturing and selling magnesium related products
during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019. A
single management team reports to the chief operating
decision makers who comprehensively manages such
entire business segment. Accordingly, the Group does not
have separately reportable segments.

Geographical information

(a)

Revenue from external customers

=t el L —FNF
2020 2019

FTExT FTi&x
HK$'000 HK$'000

B (& B BRI Mainland China
(other than Hong Kong) 739,775 1,478,854
&R M Europe 5,061 36,437
744,836 1,515,291

iR A BB IZRE P&
el

) HHBEE

(b)

The revenue information above is based on the
locations of the customers.

Non-current assets

B B (& 8 B 51

Mainland China
(other than Hong Kong)

=t el L —FNF
2020 2019

FTExT FTi&x
HK$'000 HK$'000

1,783,924

1,666,026

FHRFRBEEEHNREE
PR 25 °

The non-current assets information above is based
on the locations of the assets.
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Information about major customers

Sales to a single customer contributed 10% or more of
the Group’s revenue during the year is as belows:

TECEE BelB K

2020 2019

FiEx FiEx

HK$'000 HK$'000

ZEA Customer A 98,358 59.566

6. WA Htx AR - & 6
#

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS, NET

WA B A RWE  FED An analysis of revenue and other income and gains, net
MranT e is as follows:
=t el L —F-NF
2020 2019
FEx FTEx
HK$'000 HK$’000
RE-KEHER Revenue from contract with
REBEFEHZERA customer recognised at a point in
time
HEEESBHEBE® Sale of magnesium related products 744,836 1,515,291
Httg AR Hih W &= F 5 Other income and other gains, net
WITHA B WA Bank interest income 418 1,401
B EE R Sales of scrap materials 4,053 2,190

HEME - BER&RE WS

Gain on disposal of property, plant
and equipment 497 662

H At (M &) Others (Note) 3,187 7,899
8,155 12,152
Ma: BE_ZTZ-_ZEF+_A=+—-HBILHF Note: During the year ended 31 December 2020, included in others was rental

E o HaeiERS K AL3,793,0008 T
— T —fLF 1 4,331,000/57T) °

income of approximately HK$3,793,000 (2019: HK$4,331,000).

FIBBMAGREFEER—FHAD -
MEBMBHREEAEGRMNE
BREEMRMR YEREOEE
AETEHNNRZER -

All revenue contracts are for one year or less. As
permitted by practical expedient under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to unsatisfied contracts is not
disclosed.
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HAT(ER),EF

AEBEZHA(ER), RN

B/ (GtA) T3 %A :

7. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group's (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after

charging/(crediting]:

B %5 ¥R 3% B 5 (48)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
BEZZ-_ZTHF+=-A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2020

— ST F gt ok

2020 2019

TEx FEx

HK$'000 HK$’000

HERFEKAR Cost of inventories sold* 519,343 926,306

M- - MENEZHEITE Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment 97,963 86,277

CRAEEETE Depreciation of right-of-use assets* 1,273 1,320
HEWME BEREZ Gain on disposal of property,

W = plant and equipment (497) (662)
PR M B Amortisation of mining right* 188 400
BILEEBE Amortisation of intangible assets* 4,587 4,549
% B R BN & Auditors’ remuneration

—FEFT IR — Audit Service 1,000 1,639

— B RE — Non-audit Service - —
EERMAX(BIEESE  Employee benefit expense

) (including directors’ remuneration)

TE HFa2LEYEF Wages and salaries and benefits in kind 54,364 93,647
BEERITEIHEK Pension scheme contributions 238 685

54,602 94,332
PER Z%E - FE~* Foreign exchange differences, net* (1,837) 441
me Rk EM K FKIEZ Allowance for expected credit loss on

RHEEBEREREB deposits and other receivables* 10 174
FEU & 5 Bk 3k T8 HA Allowance for/(Reversal of] allowance

EEBBEEE for expected credit loss on trade

(BE[E) 57w receivables* 1,649 (1,784)
# AAGERRRAEMEER AR ZH # Included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

N and other comprehensive income
* AGERERERAMEEKRAR 2T * Included in "Administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of
Bz ) profit or loss and other comprehensive income

MR BRI A R AR

2020 BFRE 15
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HEZZ-_TF+ZA=+—HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2020

8. MBEH 8.  FINANCE COSTS
ST ==
2020 2019
TF#ExT i e
HK$’000 HK$’000
BANRNOAFRAZEERZ Interest on bank and other borrowings
HRAT K B & KRR wholly repayable within five years 46,129 20,528
AR EH B Interest on convertible bonds 51,728 51,536
97,857 72,064
9. ESH S 9. DIRECTORS’' REMUNERATION
(a) EE = Fr (a) Directors' Emoluments
Hz—_Z2-_FF+=-A=+ The emoluments of each director for the year ended
—HEFEZEZZH MH 31 December 2020 are set below:
I
we B &&t
Fees Share options Total
F#&xT FExT F#&xT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BITES Executive directors
oLt R Shum Sai Chit — 539 539
ot 5% 8 Chi Jing Chao = 54 54
FHITEE Non-executive directors
Fagicd Meng Jian 100 90 190
BEIATHL Tam Wai Ho, Samson JpP* — 45 45
BIFHITEZE  Independent
non-executive
directors
BB 47 32 Kwong Ping Man 30 90 120
A A Cheung Sound Poon 30 90 120
78 3R A Kwan Ngai Kit 30 90 120
190 998 1,188
# RZZEZZEFXA=ZTHRME # retired on 30 June 2020
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9. EEfME )

(a)

EEHEME)

RE-F-—AE+-A=+
—ELFEEEEL M

9.

Bt 3% 35 2% B 5E (4R)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(E_T_ZTF+ A=+ —HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2020

4

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

(@) Directors’ Emoluments /continued)

The emoluments of each director for the year ended
31 December 2019 are set below:

ZIEAT

e B &&t
Fees Share options Total
F#xT T#xT F#&xT
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
HTES Executive directors
bt R Shum Sai Chit — 803 803
28 25+ Chi Bi Fen* — 268 268
- b Chi Jing Chao* - 40 40
kHTESE Non-executive directors
2 Meng Jian 100 134 234
BREIAFES+ Tam Wai Ho, Samson JP — 134 134
BIAFHITEZE  Independent
non-executive
directors
B 1R XX Kwong Ping Man 30 134 164
R A A Cheung Sound Poon 30 134 164
g Kwan Ngai Kit 30 134 164
190 1,781 1,971

© RSE-AGERASTRARE

# RZZE—NEFERNAZ+NEBEZ
£

HE_Z-_ZFRK_ZT—AN
F+-_A=+—HBIFEE XK
SERERNASEEETRNES
S ER BN S - AEEE N
AXEEBHIMALRER @ sk
ERBEBmE -

RAFERN TEBERFT L
1 {A] DR 3R 3 A B I 3% 4 o) B
EZLH(ZFT-NEFHE) -

resigned on 26 June 2019

appointed on 26 June 2019

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019,
no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
directors of the Group as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss
of office.

There was no arrangement under which a director
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the year (2019: Nil).

BHER R EEERAERAR
2020 AEHE 17
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10.

18

hEme#HER

YHRARRNEZTZhERRFHE
EMFHeFBOT:

10.  FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

Details of the remuneration for the five highest paid
employees who are not a director of the Company are as
follows:

¥ e EZREREDNE

EPEYYY —=- 1=
2020 2019

FHI FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, allowances and

benefits in kind 2,099 791

BREZR Share option expenses 1,526 11,231
RAKET B 5% Pension scheme contributions 45 25
3,670 12,047

FHMERNATHE ZFEERIF
THREBRESHFREEZABNT

The numbers of non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within
the following bands are as follows:

—t il —FNF

2020 2019
£ %1,000,0007% 7T Nil to HK$1,000,000 4 -
1,000,0017% 7T £2,000,0007% 7T HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1 1
2,000,001/ JTt £3,000,000/%& 7T HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 — 2
3,000,0007% JT £4,000,0007% JT HK$3,000,000 to HK$4,000,000 — 2

5 5

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2020

1.

Fiigwipx

RN BEahEMbE2EBARA
M/ Gt SRR 8
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Bt 3% 35 2% B 5E (4R)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(E_T_ZTF+ A=+ —HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2020

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The amount of income tax expense charged/[credited) to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income represents:

—g-zs =t BN
2020 2019

Figx Fax
HK$'000 HK$’000

B HA #5418 - Current tax:
—FECEMER — PRC Enterprises Income Tax 11,438 63,680
BEEEBRERE — Overprovision in prior year = (4,477)
i FE £ I8 (B 5E28) Deferred taxation (Note 28) (6,075) (5,807)

5,363 53,396

EARA (BB, 8 I LA
RANRERZHMBERRMER
ROREBBEEREFEZR
X HENERREFE 2H A
SR AREAREEDEE
ME)EBEEREZERMAT

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to (loss)/
profit before tax at the statutory rates for the countries/
jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of
its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the
effective tax rates, and a reconciliation of the applicable
rates (i.e. the statutory tax rates) to the effective tax rates,
are as follows:

i Jemg- 3 :3 —E-NEF
2020 2019
TiEx FTiEx
HK$'000 HK$'000 Y%
BRI (E1R), & 7 (Loss)/profit before tax (68,648) 263,128
BETHRFE 2B Tax at the statutory tax rates (14,004) 20.4 55,271 21.0
AN 2 A Income not subject to tax (4,961) 7.2 (16,437) (6.2)
AATHIH 2 H Expenses not deductible for tax 24,208 (35.3) 14,313 5.4
AEERZHIEEE Tax losses not recognised 123 (0.2) 10,631 4.0
BARRMEMIBEE  Tax losses utilised from
previous periods (3) - (5,905) (2.2)
BEFEHBERE Overprovision in prior year — — (4,477) (1.7)
BAEBEERVEFEZ  Tax charge at the Group’s
B effective rate 5,363 (7.9) 53,39 20.3

BHER R EEERAERAR
2020 AEHE 19
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1.

12.

120

Rz ®)
Q) BFEBANEH

RZE-NE=A=1+—8 -
BERANEEBBEB_T—tF
MG OIER(ERT)(ET7%)
([ZER]) ZEX3AF
BREAH - ZERNRZZ
—NF=ZAZFNEBEEK
EFEOWYRB2EHAE - B
FEHMAH  2EKEHE
ERNE28EEBLAEBZ
8.25% I - MiE @28 B &
JC B 15 B Bl B $216.5% K
oo NFFE TS M &S A
SEEREMNBEEESEIRI65%
7 & JE MR o

AEBEERAEE M ES
FEBHERERAIPRD
CHEMEEYEREMTEB
TEKXK - BEMNEHRME
FE A B IR E SRR a A
Z165%FE - BREBR B
BMEAERW RN - WEZE
—EEF+ZHA=+—H
HFEHAIMEMBKIE(Z
T—NF |\

) FEEXREH

FEEEMAEHR RN T E
BE_Z_TER_FT-NF
t-A=t+—-HIEFEZH
At R B A A 2 25% T & -

iz B

EEETEZREBEE_Z_FF
F—ZTE-—NFF+_A=+—HIEF
€ R ] R R o
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1.

12.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE /continued)

(@) Hong Kong Profits Tax

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative
Council passed The Inland Revenue [Amendment)
(No. 7) Bill 2017 [the "Bill") which introduces the
two-tiered profits tax rate regime. The Bill was
signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazette
on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits
tax rate regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of
the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%,
and profits tax above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue
to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors of the Group considered the amount
involved upon implementation of the two-tiered
profit tax rates require as insignificant to the
consolidated financial statement. Hong Kong
Profits tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years. No tax is payable
for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil)
since there was no assessable profit generated in
Hong Kong.

(b)  PRC Enterprise Income Tax

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at 25%
on the estimated assessable profits arising in the
PRC for the years ended 31 December 2020 and
2019.

DIVIDEND

The board of directors do not recommend the payment of
any dividend for the years ended 31 December 2020 and
2019.

ARTEEEREBESR(ES
5)BF

(a)

(b)

EXx

pal
=

i
> B
]

o
| | o k)

- S8 O 2

i

o

¢ mn
=N\

3t
o
=0 —
~J
wW
TN

STl S
ool -

o
o
=l

.
~
Sp— 3
S W

o~
(@n]
(@m]

P L= s R

X
il
B

|
=
o

pulll3
—+ 1

305

DCDEJ
il

o) .

=2
=
XS

o~ o~
o1 Ul
3 o
_‘bw
W o
~O O
O1 o 1R

o

\II+
i

B

Tt

f
i
¥ o
il
N
ﬁ
forel

[}

1

B
3
s

3
Wk

- B
EERUN it
i ot

nE

o )436’// !

3 P 0
]]]H:
i
s

T
i
[
sk

g O S

(L 5

it
BRI\
2 1 K i B

-+ I {8 pt
8| Bt 555 m i

S
BoHsE | B

i
R

IS
ﬁ ~—
s |
e st
% i
Tl

=)
B e
B s
o=
F T

S
2
)
e
B
=
=)
e
=
=
e

el

S
el

S ST N
BB b 2
21558 I 5B N ) R

=
-H
E\
S
\E_ m >
T )<
g A
AN
mIE g
T
o
jus
° RESES

ﬁlﬁ

| Y8

5 e

SR

TH\:ﬂIﬂ; 1
H
T =
REC
N
Al
o

> B

A 5
&
SHEEK Y

311y
M| md
ajn

| | 3
R

N
e

DS | | B
el

&

ﬁi\ )

=

e

At Sk

&5

EZTE-—ALF+=
BEFRE2ER (S
N2 W BEEREE -
SREE(ER) &

o

N
B
->H

aF b o A

>
@

vy

e
B2
o

=1

Bt 3% 35 2% B 5E (4R)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

E-T-FTF+-A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2020

13.  (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE COMPANY

(a) Basic

The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share
are based on the loss for the year attributable to
owners of the Company of HK$(74,011,000) (2019:
profit of HK$209,732,000) and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of 6,583,598,000 (2019:
6,574,390,058) during the year.

(b)  Diluted

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by
adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding to assume conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares. The Company has
one categories of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
share options (2019: two categories: share options
and convertible bonds).

For the share options, a calculation is done to
determine the number of shares that could have
been acquired at fair value [determined as the
average market price of the Company's shares
during the period) based on the monetary value of
the subscription rights attached to outstanding share
options. The number of shares calculated as above
is compared with the number of shares that would
have been issued assuming the exercise of the share
options.

The computation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share
does not assume the exercise of the Company's
share options because the exercise price of those
share options was higher than the average market
price of shares for the year ended 31 December
2020 and 2019.

For the convertible bonds, the effect on (loss)/
earnings per shares were anti-dilutive for the year
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019. They were note
included in the calculation of diluted (loss)/earnings
per share.

R EEERERAR]
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B %5 ¥R 3% B 5 (4&)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
BHEZZ-_ZTHF+=-A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2020

% ME -BENRKRE 14.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT W YE -BERSREZ) 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT /continued)

HELH
3 &

RE RE
kR

GEZ

(i) AEBEZEELHEETREBEEHRZ

Note:

(i) The carrying amount of the Group's leasehold land and buildings

leasehold ERIE Fumitore, RERILE EE FREESTOT : reporting periods are analysed as follows:
land and  Construction fixtures and Plant and Motor am
buildings in progress equipment machinery vehicles Total _
F#%  THx  F#x 2 FExT 2 TR 0 THEX —¥-nF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 2019
TiEx
R Cost: HKS'000 HKS'000
R-ZE-hE—A—8 As at 1 January 2019 419,682 490,318 6,046 782,025 4,893 1,702,964
NE Additions 2,805 11,237 139 148 562 114,891 RAEBERH 2 FFEEHELY Medium term leases in Mainland China 429,373 319,200
HiE Transfer (47,954) (180,761) 82 228,633 - -
#’% Disposal _ B B B (9.090) (163) (9.253) (ii) RZBZZF+_A=+—H0 458 (ii) As at 31 December 2020, buildings, plant and machinery of the Group
EHE Exchange realignment (7,892) (8,826) (133) (21,842) (114) (38,807) BE % (E 49371,440,00008 T2 1 F « & with a net carrying amount of approximately HK$371,440,000 (2019:
_ Rt 2s (=2 — N4 : 398,587,000/ 7T) HK$398,587,000) were pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the
R=F-NF+-A=1—H As at 31 December 2019 and BRERAEEAEEFRERE Y RTE Group (note 24).
R-Z-ZF—-f—8 1 January 2020 366,641 411,968 6,134 979,874 5178 1,769,795 2 (B 55 24) ©
RE Addition - 113,982 317 6,086 326 120,711
iz Transfer 110,073 (110,073) - - - - .
i Disposal 1544 - (135) 5 o 2o 5. FRHEEE 15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
R Exchange realignment 30,230 27,664 418 65,629 255 124,196
R-ZF-TF+-A=+-8 As at 31 December 2020 506,400 443,541 6734 1,051,584 3735 2,011.99% —ESF mmr k-
2020 2019
R E: Accumulated depreciation: F i T =
JT T#&x
R-Z-h&E—f—8 As at 1 January 2019 (47,413) - (4,402)  [114,708) (2.414)  (168,937) HKI$'000 HKS'000
AEEHRTE Depreciation provided during the year (22,258) - (241) (62,950 (828) (86,277)
Wik Transfer 21,194 - - (21,194) - - .
HE Disposal - - - 4739 154 4893 Kn—H—H As at 1 January 50,928 53,355
B X &7 Exchange realignment 1,036 - 99 4313 67 5,515 REEFIRITE Depreciation provided during the year (1,273) (1,320)
E : .
R-ZE-hE+-A=+—-8BRk As at 31 December 2019 and Eiiﬁj Exchange reallgnment 3,326 (1.107)
R-E-%—F—H 1 January 2020 (47,441) - (4,544)  (189,800) (3.021)  (244,806] N e —
AEEHRIFE Deprecation provided during the year (25,240} - (820  (71,587) 856  (97963) RT=A=T—H As at 31 December 52,981 50,928
& Disposal 143 - 128 4 1923 2,198
% 23l Exchange realignment 14.489) - B (16438 (sl (21,381 ERREEARRAKEBEREHA The right-of-use assets represent the Group's right to use
QA= oo O = y . . .
R-E-FE+-A=+-8 As at 31 December 2020 (77,027) - (5,009 (277,819) (2,097 (361952) 1’ f%f E‘%ﬁ EREEEL RN RIS underlying leased premises and equipment under lease
K&z EN - arrangements over the lease terms.
REE: Carrying amount:
R-2-2£+=-pA=t-H As at 31 December 2020 429,373 443,541 1725 773,765 1638 1,650,042 RoE-—TE+-—A=+—8 & As at 31 December right-of-use assets of
R-E-h&+=A=+-8 As at 31 December 2019 319,200 411,968 1,590 790,074 2,157 1,524,989 .

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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A E#52,981,0008 T (=ZF—
N4 50,928,000 JT) B & LA
AR IR 17 18 (M 52 24) ©

approximately HK$52,981,000 (2019: 50,928,000) have
been pledged to secure banking borrowings (note 24).
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16.
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BWEE 16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 1.
g5
Patent
FTiEx
HKS 000
A Cost:
RZE-NFE—-HA—H As at 1 January 2019 51,052
&% B Exchange realignment (1,089)
RZE-NFTZA=+—-HR As at 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020
—T-TF¥—-H—H 49963
R Exchange alignment 3,330
R-B-25+-A=+-H As at 31 December 2020 53,293
ot @ Accumulated amortisation:
RZFE-NF—HA—H As at 1 January 2019 11,022
KEEHH Amortisation for the year 4,549
& 5 &5 Exchange alignment (269)
RZE-AFF+ZA=+—-HEK As at 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020
“T-FF—-A-H 15,302
REZHHE Amortisation for the year 4,587
& % &5 Exchange alignment 1,263
R-ZB-Z25+-A=+-H As at 31 December 2020 21,152
BREE: Carrying amount:
R-ZB-Z2F+-A=+-H As at 31 December 2020 32,141
R-_F-NE+-A=1t—H As at 31 December 2019 34,661
18.

=1

B %5 ¥R 3% B 5 (4&)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
E2T-FTF+-A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2020

R R 17. MINING RIGHTS
FEx
HK$’000
RA Cost:
R-ZZE—-—hE—H—H As at 1 January 2019 56,136
ME 5+, & 51 Exchange realignment (1,197)
RZE-—NhF+ZA=+—HK As at 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020
—T-ZTF—A—FH 24,937
I H 875 Exchange realignment 3,661
R-B-_2H+-A=+—H As at 31 December 2020 58,600
Rt #ds: Accumulated amortisation:
RNR_FE—-—hLF—H—H As at 1 January 2019 8,838
RNEEEE Amortisation for the year 400
=l Exchange realignment (198]
—E-AFETZA=T—HK As at 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020
—E-ZF—-H—H 9,040
N HE Amortisation for the year 188
I X & 5l Exchange realignment 612
R-B-2H+-A=+—H As at 31 December 2020 9,840
FRMEE: Carrying amount:
R-ZZE-_Z2H5+_-_A=+—H As at 31 December 2020 48,760
R-ZZE-NF+ZA=+—H As at 31 December 2019 45,899

BRSO RPEEMREZ LT
AEOBENRBEE  UELHEE
BEE TIAEH -

The balance represents mining rights of the dolomite
mine located in Baishan City of Jilin Province, the PRC,
which is amortised by the production quantity over the

ore reserve.

78 18. INVENTORIES
— T F gt 2ok
2020 2019
T8 T8
HK$'000 HK$'000
R Raw materials 165,743 125,107
£ & i Work in progress 658 1,247
&K m Finished goods 120,734 60,453
287,135 186,807

MR BRI IR AR
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19.

126

EREZRARERZER

19. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

—t L LM —F-NF

2020 2019
FExT FiEx
HK$'000 HK$'000
JE U Z 5 BR 2 (B () Trade receivables (note (i) 168,676 149,011
BHIEEEIERE Allowance for expected credit loss (3,490) (1,726)
165,186 147,285
e U 2= 4% (B9 3E (i) Bills receivables (note (ii)) 7,106 4,186
172,292 151,471

Bt 5% - Note:

(i) AEEBREEPZESTEUNRETA
T - REH—RTHEBISOR - BER
FPEAERRBREEE - AEBEBRER
120 B R B A5 B M SRR 0 R B BE R B PR

RE - SRERECTHEROSER -
ERNEXHM MZAEE 2 EBKES
ERIRBESH2ER AL LB KR
WFE PR o A5 BB E R
EORREHFTAEMERRREME
BERARE - BRESERTFHE -

i) RZFZFTF+-A=+—H BRERK
#17,106,00078 T (= F — L4 : 4,186,000
BTIBRBEHRZEAEAZT N
FoLEA)NEE - A RARES N
ARBEE -

B’\\\iﬁ%,ﬁﬂﬂi?ﬁ%?ﬁﬂﬁﬂiﬂ i) &
YE 5 8RR (0B T8 (5 B B 1R 1
ﬁ)ZEE“@%%TﬁZZDTFﬁ??\ :

(i) The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit.
The credit period is generally not over 180 days. Each customer has
a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables and to minimise credit risk. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the
aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables related
to a large number of diversified customers, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade
receivables are interest-free.

(ii) As at 31 December 2020, bills receivable of approximately HK$7,106,000
(2019: HK$4,186,000) will be matured within six months (2019: seven
months) after the end of the reporting period. All the bills receivables
are dominated in RMB.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net
of allowance for expected credit loss, is as follows:

—g-—zs =t BUF

2020 2019
FET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
DRR60K Within 60 days 87,468 113,550
61E90K 61 to 90 days 49,275 33,735
912180K 91 to 180 days 28,443 —
165,186 147,285
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TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES /continued)

The movements in the allowance for expected credit loss
of trade receivables are as follows:

2020 2019

FERT TERT

HK$'000 HK$’000

F 1) At the beginning of year 1,726 3,544
TEHEEEBEE Allowance for/(reversal of allowance for)

(BB mE) expected credit loss, net 1,649 (1,784)

ME X 2= R Exchange difference 115 (34)

INECSF S At the end of year 3,490 1,726

P& s B HIER R B A AR P TR
Bt UFERHMEEERE-
BERTDERRARUEBEN
(AR - EmBAE &P
BRI NEER A RERBHAM Y
AWMERRRBHARBE)Z @
Eﬁ“%@AMﬁ%%%ﬁE°
ZAERRIARNEEAR &
BBELRBREBRARF ﬁﬁﬂ
E%# B AR S B FB OB R 2R A&
BRAESREEER - — &M

- i B 5 8 U SR IR B B R B —
EHE%@%@%%ﬁ%E'%
S -  AHEEBRNGFR
A M EE39 e

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses. The provision rates are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer segments with similar
loss patterns [(i.e., by geographical region, product type,
customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of
credit or other forms of credit insurance). The calculation
reflects the probability weighted outcome, the time value
of money and reasonable and supportable information
that is available at the reporting date about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written off if
past due for more than one year and are not subject to
enforcement activity. Details of assessment of expected
credit loss was detailed in Note 39.
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200 mEgs 121



B % ¥R 3% B 5E (AR)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HEZZ-_TF+ZA=+—HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2020

9. BEWESZRFRERTIR
(&)
BERMBEHREEABEIRET
1B
RABEERATAEEE S E
WHRENEERBRERMT

19. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES /continued)

Impairment under HKFRS 9

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a
provision matrix:

FHEBEEEX KEKE HBEEE

Expected Gross carrying Loss

loss rate amount allowance
T T
HKS’000 HKS’000

R-ZEB-_ZFF+=-H=+—H 31 December 2020

B HA (k28 BF) Current (not past due) 1.885% 168,359 3,173
BEI D Less than 1 year past due 100% 317 317
168,676 3,490

FEHEEE TRELAE BEREG

Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEn TEn
HK$'000 HK$'000

RZE—NF+=ZA=+—H 31 December 2019
BPER (R AR) Current (not past due) 1.038% 148,830 1,545
BEI D Less than 1 year past due 100% 181 181
149,011 1,726

SR 3 9 7 9 7 OB
7E 3 50 30 4% 4 R 38 M0 A HE S
B -

E 8 H1 18 8 0R (B 2 JE U SR B R
AEEZELERIFNBLES ©
REBELE  ARAEFAR
MR EEEXRTESANE I
R 2o - SEA
B F S ERE LR ERE -
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Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
relate to a large number of diversified customers for
whom there was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
to a number of independent customers that have a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience,
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that no
provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant change in
credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable.

20.
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20. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

ot et Il —FAF

2020 2019

FExT FEx

HK$'000 HK$'000

8 < w3 (B EE () Prepayments (note (i) 247,988 281,150
i gcra Deposits 208 292
H b j& g 3k 18 Other receivables 8,748 6,607
256,944 288,049

TEHEEEBBEE Allowance for expected credit loss (191) (170)
256,753 287,879

HeMERRNKKE BHEE
EREERREGBEBEHREAR -

M5

None of the deposits is either past due or impaired. The
allowance for expected credit loss relates to deposits and
other receivables.

notes:

(i) RZZE_ZEF+_RA=+—8  @fxE (i) As at 31 December 2020, prepayments mainly comprise of prepayment

T EREFE Z BRI 4241,263,000

of inventory of approximately HK$241,263,000 (2019: HK$198,990,000).

BT (ZZ — N4 198,990,000/ 7T) °

BNRIE - BE Rk H M ERRIE

The movements in the allowance for expected credit loss

ZEHEEEERE RN of prepayments, deposits and other receivables are as
follows:
=t St 20N —Z—NF
2020 2019
FEx FERx
HK$'000 HK$’000
F 7 At the beginning of year 170 —
BEHEEEEREE Allowance for expected credit loss 10 174
E 5 =% Exchange difference 1 (4)
R F R At the end of year 191 170

HEM R EEERERAR
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21.

130

RekBReFHEARE

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED BANK

1 17 4R 1T 7 K DEPOSITS
—t et sl —F-NF
2020 2019
TEx T
HK$’000 HK$’000
Ba RRITHEER Cash and bank balances 36,104 254,813
EEBRITER Pledged bank deposits 10,185 16,877
46,289 271,690

B e R 2 R FE K Less: Pledged deposits for

(B 5F24) borrowings (note 24) (10,185) (16,877)
BeNMIReEEIER Cash and cash equivalents 36,104 254,813

EHEBRITER: Pledged bank deposits:
& B 19 Current portion 10,185 7,328
FE R B EB 10 Non-current portion — 9,549
10,185 16,877

RBEBHKR  REBUAREST
BEzR2EBEEEHEEULE
IR 1717 B 40 443,730,000 7T
—Z— A, % 161,510,000/ 7T) °
ARBTISERABEMER
SR AR I AR B AN TE B IR A ) &%
HLE EERNESERE K
SEEEFAERENREER
EBHMRTEAREY B AHEM

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash
equivalents and pledged bank deposits of the Group
denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
HK$43,730,000 (2019: HK$161,510,000). RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies. However, under
Mainland China’'s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

21.

22,

HERALEEBEBERD
KIWBITER 2

RUTASIREBERTEARTHF
RA R ZFEFREREA B - 7T
AEBHNRRSHK  EHEH
FRZHERRB=MAH AEXAH
Z 59 E B RN R BRERR B e
RITERERERERFRRAR
o (= A BOR B T B 46 RS 3K R £
B SR 1T o

R-ZZE-_ZETE+-_A=+—H0" B2
AR 1777 72 #4910,185,000/8 T (=
T — L5 116,877,000 7T) & K 1
FIRTT - NEB BRI E24) °

BN ESRX

RBEEMRRERZERIADOE
NEZERRZEE DT TR :
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4

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED BANK
DEPOSITS /continued)

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for three months depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest
at the respective short term time deposit rates. The
bank balances and pledged deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

As at 31 December 2020, pledged bank deposit of
approximately HK$10,185,000 (2019: HK$16,877,000) was
pledged to bank for secured of borrowings (Note 24).

TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice dates, is as
follows:

b Ll —F-AF

2020 2019

TEx T#&x

HK$’000 HK$’000

DR 60K Within 60 days 18,777 29,319
61 290K 61 to 90 days 3,257 696
0K Over 90 days 14,182 17,978
36,216 47993

ENESRRNETHAE & & H
BEATHIBISOK -

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are
normally settled within 180-day terms.

BHER R EEERAERAR
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2. HihEGRIEREFEH 23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND CONTRACT 24, &K 24. BORROWINGS

RAKEME LIABILITIES
EFErTY —2-nf
—t il —FNF 2020 2019
2020 2019 FiEx TER
TEx FiEgx HK$000 HK$'000
HK$'000 HKS'000 e |
R 1T 8 Bank borrowings 134,524 151,508
FEat B A (R () Accruals (note (i) 8,875 9,501 E A £8 3R OB 5 (i) B2 (i) Other borrowings [note (i) and {iii)) 737,795 335,934
H i & A5 5K 8 (B &E (i) Other payables (note (ii)) 63,728 15,710
872,319 487,442
72,603 25,21
& BT 5 V) - Borrowings (note v):
&% & E K ki) K& (iv) Contract liabilities (note (iii) and (iv)) 13,993 19,742 — S i = sk B Due within one year or on demand 796,938 315,745
\ —FUEETESR Due within a period of more than one
EEtEA /H@JEH RIE R %R R Accruals and other payables are interest-free and TR 3B M 2R N B BR year but not exceeding two years 75,381 96,296
A v = N . . .
RARENRER repayable on demand. 8 38 w5 B A A 2 B Due within a period of more than two
years — 75,381
B 5 note:
(i) AN_ECTFF A=+ B EFREX (i) As at 31 December 2020, the accrual expenses mainly represent W Bl e BB Sz 487,442
FEEEFF SR E ITEFH4703,000 accrual salary and staff benefit of approximately HK$4,703,000 4 5 I i Less: Amognt_s_s_hown under non-
#IE (= F — LA 6,130,000 7T) B JE (2019: HK$6,130,000) and accrued professional fee of approximately current liabilities (75,381) (171,677)
SFEEBBA1,0000008T(ZF—N HK$1,000,000 (2019: HK$1,639,000).
11,639,000 7T) © FIERB BE SR Amounts shown under current liabilities 796,938 315,765
b . SA v pe ~— o5 ) .
(ii) RZZE_TF+_A=+—RH  HihE (ii) As at 31 December 2020, the other payable was mainly represents 2t '\EEB/\\EJQ/:%/TA iZR  Less: The carrymg amount of bank and
NERIE X EARENF B 433,566,00058 7T interest payable of approximately HK$33,566,000 (2019: HK$1,242,000) KEMETEREMER other borrowings that are repayable
(ZZT—NF 11,242,000 0) R ER & and outstanding amount payable for construction-in-progress of REECESEE TYIR) on demand due to breach of loan
BEIRRGENSREL27166,0008 T (= approximately HK$27,166,000 (2019: HK$1,973,000). 42y
TN 19730000 7)o (B 5Evi) c_ovgr_wants [showr_w under current
liabilities) (note vi) (760,580) —
i) TCHHEEEEQNEFRE DT/\i\,JE‘j’ QN [ii)  The Group receives certain portion of contract amounts when signing N . o
FERDETFTHEINGNEE - 2 BE the contracts with customers on sale of magnesium products. The BB — F N E Amounts shown under current liabilities
%A%ﬁﬁ%ﬂ@i%fgfgﬁé?ﬂiﬁﬁﬁi%ﬁ transaction price allocated to these sales is recognised as a contract Tﬁg;ﬁ[:ﬁJLZfE Tk for the bank and other borrowings
BRARAHNEBE FXFERRBRAHNA liability at the time of initial sales transaction. Revenue recognised in . = .
{5 SR 58 R ) I 25 40 4 638,208,000 7T (= the current year that was included in the contract liability balance was ,ﬁﬁg KRR B R E that are repayable within one year or
T U 1,223,590,00055 1) o A approximately HK$638,208,000 (2019: HK$1,223,590,000). The Group Z & 5 on demand 36,358 315,765
Fﬁﬁﬁ HAEALAEIEERNFE S considers the advance payments schemes does not contain significant
CMBE SR RERLFEETER financing component and accordingly the amount of consideration is ﬁ%‘%ﬁ'\ : Borrowings;
ﬁ$ﬁ.k@irﬂ§fﬁﬂ'i RESEIL not adjusted for the effects of the time value of money taking into 4= :
IR BEREENZEMAE - consideration that the payment terms were not structured primarily for ﬁiﬁéﬁ (M—JL E[ll &[”l]) Secured [nOte [I] and [Hl]] RS 275,550
the provision of finance to the Group. N Unsecured 618'471 211,892
(iv) EHABZEHOT: iv]) The movements of contract liabilities are as follows: 872,319 487,447
—E-8F ZE-hEF
2020 2019
T T
HK$’000 HK$'000
N—A—B2Z&H% Balance at 1 January 19,742 7,799
BEAFERENBLOETER Revenue recognised from performance obligations
Pl satisfied during the year (19,742) (7,799)
FARMELEHZ Increase in contract liabilities as a result of
AR AEEM receiving deposits during the year 12,677 20,200
fE 5, & 71 Exchange realignment 1,316 (458)
Rt-ZA=t—RAZ&#K Balance at 31 December 13,993 19,742

MR BRI IR AR
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2b, (BFR (&

76 B 3 2 B R (R E R
ABFIR)BEMT -

24. BORROWINGS /continued)

equal to contracted interest rates]
borrowings are as follows:

The ranges of effective interest rates [(which are also
on the Group’'s

HBE_ZT_FF BE-_ZF—NF

+—)El:+—EI +=HA=+—H

IEFE IEFE

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2020 2019

TEn TiEx

HK$’000 HK$’000

BB X Effective interest rate:

IEF%K Fixed-rate borrowings 4% to 18% 4.5% to 7%

A & 18 3K Variable-rate borrowings 4.25% to 5.48% 3.75% to 7.52%
fERA T EEEE: Borrowings were denominated in the following

currencies:

=t St 20 T — L

2020 2019

FExT T

HK$’000 HKS$'000

AR¥ RMB 111,739 118,636

B TT HK$ 563,785 145,855

ETT Us$ 196,795 222,951

872,319 487,442

134 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

2. B (&
G

R 5K 49211,739,00008 T(Z & — A
:212,089,0008 ) B —RARMB A

ARERARKEODE  BER
BRAEKIBT1,4400008 T REREEELN
52,981,000 T(ZZ— N F: W% K
B & 3R 15 #7398,587,0005% 7T LA K {8 FB #E
& #950,928,00078 L) EE R ©

HinfE R BEREE M ARNERL
42,109,000 T (ZF — /L4 : 63,461,000
75 70) R (b) & % #9275,686,0008 T (=&
— L8 1 272,473,000 ) BB E#E K
F Ming Xing Development Limitedf& %
420,000,008 7T * ZREBRFARNBAHRRK
EHFEHHEMFE27) -

A2 B% & % (MY 5£27) 420,000,000 7T 7
Z_ZF+-A=+HEERLRRIE
- EHFOBREEMER - FA

Z
RELE -
R-_ZT-—F-_F=-++tH EHEH
ATAREBEAMBEE 2B E 154,686,000
BUUHEAREERERLRFD - EREEXR
B4 -

RIEADA — %%ﬁﬁﬁ B EE
%%ﬂ —J(flﬂﬂ% A ) VB R
B EADEN = PR g

27,000,000% Eﬁm °

FZEREGFIRMBBRITRAERLN35%
e HHSEEERGAMBNE
ERAHEFE -

FR e ARNERLR42,109000% T
ZZE—NF 63,461,000 L) - At
REAREHNAAER: RHEERR
Alpha Sino International Limited ([Alpha
Sinol) #E A 2t 42 15 F AR 15 B 4 (i) 4R
777 3 #910,185,0008 T (=T — L& :
16,877,00058 70) fF -

R-ZE-_ZTF+_F=+—H BT
AREMEROMEERFIERL 58.02%
ZZT—NF 7.33%) °

% % FROR Th AR BB B R I o BT R ARG E
REH -

rEBFBETEERE BERHER
BEBRBZFERZEARS - R=
?fyitﬁfa ARARAMHART
ERBRRERARELEAXEENE
@$$ﬁ%&iﬁmwwooo%ﬁhuﬁiz&
ER-Eit  AKBETRENREA
760580000,%7z2%¥1amm o fE #
%%EEF ’ %%5760 580,000 JT & R EH
THFE+-_A=t+—ABzZKREH
%Hx/ﬂzéqﬂi%ﬁ HATBHERE A%
@Eﬁéﬂfﬁn/\ﬁ%ﬁ{{i&iﬁﬂﬁiﬁﬁmﬁ
EIT/\ E/\ A/:I\Eﬁf%%ﬁ&iﬁt/ﬁaaq ot
BB ARE BN KRE o

M

e
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24, BORROWINGS /continued)

Note:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

liv)

(v]

(vi)

Secured borrowing of approximately HK$211,739,000 (2019:
HK$212,089,000) were guaranteed by the corporate guarantee of a fellow
subsidiary and pledged property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$371,440,000 and right-of-use assets of approximately HK$52,981,000
(2019: property, plant and equipment of approximately HK$398,587,000
and right-of-use assets of approximately HK$50,928,000).

Included in other borrowings was (a] IFC loan of approximately
HK$42,109,000 (2019: HK$63,461,000); (b] bond of approximately
HK$275,686,000 (2019: HK$272,473,000) and (c) bond from the immediate
shareholder, Ming Xing Developments Limited of HK$420,000,000 which
was reclassified from convertible bond (Note 27) during the year.

The convertible bonds (note 27) of HK$420,000,000 was expired on 30
November 2020 and became repayable on demand, reclassified to other
borrowings and carried at rate of 4% per annum.

Included in the other borrowings of the Group were borrowings of
approximately HK$154,686,000 which the lender have commenced
litigations against the Group to repay the outstanding balances on 22
February 2021.

Pursuant to a loan agreement entered into by a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company and International Finance Corporation ("IFC”), IFC had
granted a loan facility of US$27,000,000 to the subsidiary.

The loan bears interest at LIBOR plus 3.5% per annum and the amounts
due are based on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreement.

The loan from IFC of approximately HK$42,109,000 (2019: HK$63,461,000)
was secured by (i) corporate guarantee given by Century Sunshine
Group Holdings Limited; and [ii) pledged of shares in Century Sunshine
Group Holdings Limited as owned by Alpha Sino International Limited
("Alpha Sino”), the substantial shareholder; (iii) deposit with banks of
approximately HK$10,185,000 (2019: HK$16,877,000).

The weighted effective interest rate of bank borrowing and other
borrowing as at 31 December 2020 is approximately 8.02% (2019: 7.33%).

The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the
loan agreements.

Certain of the Group’s facilities were subject to the fulfillment of covenants
as are commonly found in lending arrangements. On 3 July 2020, the
Company announced CS, the controlling shareholder of the Company,
defaulted in the redemption of its subordinated notes of SGD101.75 million
in principal amount. As a result, the Group could not fulfill covenants on
certain borrowings with an aggregate amount of HK$760,580,000. Included
in this amount, borrowings of an aggregate amount of HK$760,580,000
were classified as current liabilities in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2020. The Group is negotiating with
the borrowers to refinancing the borrowings at the end of reporting period.
As at the date of approval of the consolidated financial statements, the
aforesaid borrowings were not yet renewed nor repaid.
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25.

26.
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BN—BRRz2MHE

HE_ET-_ETF+-_A=+—0"
TR S T VY LT R
B R ERER -

BHE_ZT-hF+A=+—8H"
JEfT— B2 RIEREEM
EERRRTZMERAARER -

iE FE WA

AMOUNT DUE TO A SHAREHOLDER

As at 31 December 2020, the amount due to a shareholder
is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on
demand.

As at 31 December 2019, the amount due to a shareholder
is unsecured, non-interest bearing and is not repayable
within 12 months.

DEFERRED REVENUE

B2 F B MH B 2 BT R

=t St 208 —ZT—NF
2020 2019

Fi#x Fi#&xT
HK$’000 HK$’000

Government grants received

related to assets 72,834 68,283

RRRETESRX2ER - BUD
AREEBEBREARAAN_-T
——FEEMBFR D
BEZBE  EXBRNRERB
W RZeBEBEAER QAR
HEHBETED) UK EHEE
ENMRERSDE BELRHE
HY) EE BE ©

BE_ T TR -_T-NFT=
A=t —HLFE AEEHYE
WEBEMEY MBEE_T_-F
FR-ZFE-NF+-A=+—HIt
FEYEERTMEMBA - R
FE U A BR E (B 35 00 T B A [ =
BRPTEL -

PR sk B 3 B MR IR 2 B B - 7))
98 HE R AR R FE U A B EL 1% DAFORL
TEERX RZATHEERE
ARFHNERPER -
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In order to encourage the development of magnesium
industry, Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources
Co., Limited entered into an agreement with the local
government in 2012. Pursuant to the agreement, the
local government agree to provide financial assistance
(the “Assistance’] to Baishan City Tianan Magnesium
Resources Company Limited to improve their production
technology and enhance the capacity of the property, plant
and equipment.

During the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the
Group has not received any Assistance and there were
no other income was recognised for the years ended
31 December 2020 and 2019. The carrying amount of
deferred revenue increased due to the arise of exchange
difference.

The Assistance received or which becomes receivables is
initially recognised as deferred revenue and subsequently
recognised in profit or loss over the life of a depreciable
asset by way of as a reduced depreciation charge expense.

2], AERES

RZZE—+tF+—A=+H B
WEXKFEBEREN—3H K
REIBRBEEEREARAR(EE
¥ & |) » Sure Sino Global Limited
([Sure Sinol) « 42 F5 ¥ & & #=
BRERRBRRARABEILZEE
Wik BITREGFL%ETE A
B¥FHABIN A28 A
420,000,000 ST 2 AT PR E & ©

REBEAFEZEHABE TR
BEFREANRERET  UEE
MEBEREZTE 2 FE&EE?
DHEABTMBENRER - WK
BEEBABESRESH S —
BMBEEBLDNETEHE AR
AAGEGZTAEAE RIRER
TH - BEFDZRAFERARAU
RAHBTARAZRITHIGH XRHE
TfhEt - AIMBEFZ 2 FEF
EHBYEXGEMET #a
MORABERESERFEE]—
MyERED - BEISDRIS
ERENERNESEF14.6% -

ABRBEEFETESHAEARN
LA B (B0.40 BT @I SR -
HETHES  AITRBRESAX
HAS=F BRIURXRARRKES
BB ZABERETT - AQAH
REBEELOEREER 27 H&
P A& 75 o

RZE-_NF+-_A=+—8 1
& 2 A F B 49381,798,000
B oA BMREFR_ZTE_ZTF
+—A=1+HEH YREE_-ZF
—EFE+A=Zt—HIFEEES
(e ZeBRERKEN - BN
T F M ELE -
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CONVERTIBLE BOND

On 30 November 2017, as part of consideration for the
acquisition of the Fullocean Group, the Company has
issued convertible bonds which bear an interest of 4% per
annum payable in arrear semi-annually with aggregate
principal amount of HK$420,000,000 pursuant to the sale
and purchase agreement entered into by Capital Idea
Investments Limited ("CIIL"), Sure Sino Global Limited
("Sure Sino”), Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited
and the Company.

According to the Group’s accounting policy, the
convertible bonds are classified separately as financial
liabilities and equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument. Conversion
option that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed
amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Company’'s own equity instruments is an
equity instrument. The fair value of the liability component
is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate
for similar non-convertible instruments. The fair value
assessment of the convertible bonds was performed by
an independent professional valuer. The equity element
is presented in equity under the heading of “convertible
bond equity reserve”. The effective interest rate of the
liability element on initial recognition is 14.6% per annum.

The convertible bonds entitle the bondholder to convert
to shares at a conversion price of HK$0.40. The maturity
date of the Convertible Bonds is the 3 year from the
date of issue. Conversion may occur at any time before
maturity date of the Convertible Bonds. The Company will
redeem the convertible bonds if the bonds have not been
converted on maturity date.

The fair value of the Convertible Bonds is approximately
HK$381,798,000 as at 31 December 2019. The convertible
bonds was expired on 30 November 2020 and transferred
to “borrowings” during the year ended 31 December
2020. The amount was unsecured repayable on demand
and carried interest at 4% per annum.
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21. WA A 27.  CONVERTIBLE BOND /continued) 28. IEFERIR 28. DEFERRED TAXATION
A2 BR B 75 16 3K A 7F 4 & KL A B For more details of the terms of convertible bonds, please FARGEMBRAKXRERZE The components of deferred tax balances recognised in
A AT —+tFT+HAZ+BZ refer to the circular dated on 26 October 2017. L%RIE\N B B 48 B EB 10 K 2 & the consolidated statement of financial position and the
WK o ORI movements during the year as follows:
125 5T AP 3R BR 8 25 4 & 5 1 AT The convertible option initially included in convertible FEIEHIEAE Deferred Tax Liabilities
RN RS 2R bonds equity reserve was transferred to retained earnings
2Rl upon expiry. TRE BMt# EAR
&% HENRHE BE At
iy éﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂixﬂﬁﬁﬁ | HY A #R AX The liability component of convertible bond recognised Prepaid
BEHFEEHLOFTELT: in the statement of consolidated financial position was Convertible land lease  Right-of-use
calculated as follow: bond payment assets Total
TEx FTiEn FTiEx TEx
F T HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HK$'000 g
RN-F-—NF—A—H As at 1 January 2019 11,731 3,011 - 14,742
HR-—ZE—hE—HA—H As at 1 January 2019 350,336 E%?ﬂ?%ﬂﬂ%iﬁ%ﬁﬂ‘l Transfer upon adoption of
AABERNERX Effective interest expenses charged 51,536 %Jrflﬁi?‘;%&ﬁm c HthFESt 10 lidated B 13,011 300 B
B & A R R Interest id and bl 16,800 N redried o consougate
B R A1 8 F 52 Merest expenses palc anc payane 116.800) FEBAK statement of profit or loss and
—E-AF+-A=+—HEK As at 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 o other comprehensive income (5.731) - (76)  (5,807)
—E-—TH&—F—H 385,072 i i, & 5 Exchange realignment — - (63) (43)
S R R S Ve i \ _
ATABERANBERX Effective interest expenses charged 51,728 E’\\\:’;—HE‘F_H LB Asat 31 December 2019 and
B R ESF BRI Interest expenses paid and payable (16,800) B E A—n 0 _
. : _Z_F anuary 2020 6,000 2,872 8,872
BEZER Transfer to borrowings [420,000) FAREER Credited to consolidated
R—E—mE+-—A=+—H As at 31 December 2020 _ ﬁ’rﬁl%@”ﬁl)\i’% statement of profit or loss and
- other comprehensive income (6,000] - (75) (6,075)
i X & 5 Exchange realignment - - 189 189
R-ZZZBE+ZA=+—H Asat31 December 2020 - - 2,986 2,986
AEBRBEHEBUIR KRBT The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong before
BAREBEBEENBRBEBRY Inland Revenue Department (IRD") assessment of
#1,817,0008 o(=Z & — N & approximately HK$1,817,000 (2019: HK$1,820,000) that are
1,820,000 7T) » I ] 4 M R HA 4K available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable
HEABBEBRN QAT RKE profits of the companies in which the losses arose. The
B R A o NEE TR BRI Group also has no tax losses arising in Mainland China
EEXEVE(CE—NF: 8)BHKE (2019: Nil) that will expire in one to five years for offsetting
B UYAIRARKE-—ERFANEKINE against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets have
AR PERRBE N o B Lt Kt B A A not been recognised in respect of these losses as they
EEE—BREEERRHEERY have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for
A S 2 AR 8 it BT B A R Al some time and it is not considered probable that taxable
PRAZMBER MR EEIR profits will be available against which the tax losses can
ME WARBRAELEREEE ° be utilised by these subsidiaries.
Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited MR R B RE R AR
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28.

DEFERRED TAXATION /continued)

Deferred Tax Liabilities (continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement is
effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings
after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate
may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the
Group, the applicable rate is 5%. The Group is therefore
liable to withholding taxes on dividends distributed by
those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in
respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2020, no deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding dividend taxes that would be
payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject to
withholding dividend taxes of the Group’'s subsidiaries,
associate, and joint ventures established in Mainland
China. In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable
that these subsidiaries, associate and joint ventures will
distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. There
was no significant temporary difference associated with
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associate
in Mainland China at the end of the reporting period (2019:
Nil).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

29. &

=1
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29. SHARE CAPITAL
k2.0 —F— N F
2020 2019
FERT TERT
HK$’000 HK$’000
EE Authorised:

13,000,000,000
—Z — N4 :13,000,000,000)

13,000,000,000

(2019: 13,000,000,000)

R & I E{E0.1078 T 2 & B AX ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 1,300,000 1,300,000
ERITRAR: Issued and fully paid:
6,584,390,058 6,584,390,058

(ZZ—NF : 6,574,390,058) (2019: 6,574,390,058)

A% &R EE0.10/8 T 2 @A ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 658,439 657,439

HEz—_Z2-_22F+_-_A=+—H
FFER ARABIRITHEERE
“ERTEEBER30B T ETT
10,000,000/ f&fn - EEEFEIE © &
2 H M 30 -

REBEZE-_ZE_ZFR_FT—NLF+
“A=+—HLEFEARA  ARFAE
BOETERMESY - RELARQ
AEBHA-_ZT—NAESNA-+/NH
RERSBBENARZR  AQF
YA TE BN E #1%1,300,000,0007%
7t (% /13,000,000,000 % A% 1) °

AATDRTRAZ SR m
T

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company
issued 10,000,000 shares at an exercise price of HK$0.30
per share upon the exercise of share options. For more
details, please refer to note 30.

There was no movements in the Company's issued
ordinary shares during the year ended 31 December
2019. The authorised share capital of the Company
was increased to HK$1,300,000,000 divided into
13,000,000,000 Shares pursuant to the resolutions passed
in the general meeting of Company dated 26 June 2019.

A summary of movements in the Company’s issued share
capital is as follows:

RZE-NE—F—BXK
—E-AF+-A=+—H

28T % 13
RHBEE BAx EEKRE ag
Number of Share Share premium
shares in issue capital account Total

Ti#n  Fi#gxn TiEn
HKS'000 HKS'000  HK$'000

As at 1 January 2019 and
31 December 2019

6,574,390,058 657,439 1,560,077 2,217,516

THEBREREITZERR  Issue of ordinary shares upon

exercise of share options
As at 1 January 2020 and
31 December 2020

RZE-ZTF—A—HK
“Z-FEF+-A=+—H

10,000,000 1,000 2,557 3,957

6,584,390,058 658,439 1,562,634 2,221,073

R EEERERAR]
2020 JBFRE 141



Bt 5 3 2} B¥ X (4R)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HEZZ-_TF+ZA=+—HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2020

30.
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30.

SHARE OPTIONS

On 4 December 2017, a share option scheme [the
“Scheme”] was approved by the shareholders of the
Company. Under the Scheme, the Company may grant
options to the directors or employees of the Group and any
substantial shareholder, consultant or adviser, distributor,
contractor, supplier, service provider, agent, customer and
business partner of the Group [the “Eligible Participant”)
to subscribe for shares in the Company.

Options may be granted on such terms and conditions
in relation to their vesting, exercise or otherwise as
the directors may determine in its absolute discretion,
provided that such terms and conditions shall not
be inconsistent with any other term conditions of the
Scheme.

The subscription price is not less than the highest of (i} the
closing price of the shares on Main Boards stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of offer
of the option; (i) the average prices of the shares on Main
Board as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding the
date of offer of the option; and (iii) the nominal value of the
shares. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation
to repurchase or settle the options in cash.

The share options are exercisable only if the Eligible
Participants remain in the service of the Group or
substantial shareholder from the grant date of the share
options up to the designated exercise date.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each eligible person in
the twelve-month period expiring on the offer date must
not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Group.
Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the Group,
or any of their respective associates, would result in
the securities issued and to be issued upon exercise of

(L options already granted and to be granted (including
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such
person in the twelve-month period up to and including
the date of such grant (i] representing in aggregate over
0.1% of the relevant class of securities in issue; and (i)
(where the securities are listed on the Stock Exchange],
having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of
the securities at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5
million, such further grant of options must be approved
by shareholders of the Group.

3. BIRE#)

E-R-EHEF-A=t—
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30. SHARE OPTIONS /continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2020

HIEFE
%
— ? -—x $
—A—B EFARY FATE FARE FRAXN fTEE
BE zEBRE z2BRE 2BRE 2BR# (Hf23)
Options Options Options Options
Held at granted exercised cancelled lapsed Exercise
1 Janvary during during during during 31 December price
2020 the year the year the year the year 2020 (note)
B
HKS
(Al EE
Employees 163,400,000 - - - — 163,400,000 0.4
40,000,000 - - — [40,000,000] - 0.5
150,000,000 —(10,000,000] - — 140,000,000 0.3
B EZ
Directors
Wt R 30,000,000 - - - — 30,000,000 0.4
Shum Sai Chit
St B i 3,000,000 - - - - 3,000,000 0.4
Chi Jing Chao
i 5,000,000 - - - - 5,000,000 0.4
Meng Jian
BERATHL: 5,000,000 - - — 5,000,000 - 0.4
Tam Wai Ho, Samson Jp*
B 5,000,000 - - - - 5,000,000 0.4
Kwong Ping Man
RE R 5,000,000 - - - - 5,000,000 0.4
Cheung Sound Poon
R 5,000,000 - - - - 5,000,000 0.4
Kwan Ngai Kit
221,400,000 - - - 5,000,000 216,400,000 0.4
40,000,000 - - — (40,000,000) - 0.5
150,000,000 —(10,000,000) - — 140,000,000 0.3
411,400,000 —(10,000,000) — [45,000,000) 356,400,000 -
* R-ZEZZEFXA=ZF+HER * retired on 30 June 2020

BHER R EEERAERAR
2020 AEHE 143



B %5 ¥R 3% B 52X (4&)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HEZZ-_TF+ZA=+—HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2020

30.

144

BRRE )

BE-ZE-NAF+=A=+-
BLEFE

30. SHARE OPTIONS /continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

3. BIRE#)

R-ZE—AFE+-_A=+—H #
ROTEBBREBATERBEH
ITEBRITEE-

Bt 3% 35 2% B 5E (4R)
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SHARE OPTIONS /continued)

Options outstanding at 31 December 2020 have the
following expiry date, exercise period and exercise prices.

EREY  FATE EARE  FAKN -~ ]
ERE zERE 2EBRE 2BRE FhER g_
BT
Options Options Options Options
Held at granted exercised cancelled lapsed Transfer Held at Exercise
1 January during the during during during during 31 December price
2019 year the year the year the year the year 2019 (note)
HKS
W &
Employees 146,400,000 - - - — 17,000,000 163,400,000 0.4
40,000,000 - - - - — 40,000,000 0.5
— 200,000,000 ~(50,000,000] - — 150,000,000 03
B E%
Directors
LR 30,000,000 - - - - — 30,000,000 0.4
Shum Sai Chit
B R 20,000,000 - - - —(20,000,000) - 0.4
Chi Bi Fen*
B - - - - — 3,000,000 3,000,000 0.4
Chi Jing Chao*
Fed 5,000,000 - - - - — 5,000,000 0.4
Meng Jian
BERERATHT 5,000,000 - - - - — 5,000,000 0.4
Tam Wai Ho, Samson JP
B3 5,000,000 - - - - — 5,000,000 0.4
Kwong Ping Man
REK 5,000,000 - - - - — 5,000,000 0.4
Cheung Sound Poon
BRG 5,000,000 - - - - — 5,000,000 0.4
Kwan Ngai Kit
221,400,000 - - - - — 221,400,000 0.4
40,000,000 - - - - — 40,000,000 0.5
— 200,000,00 ~(50,000,000] - — 150,000,000 0.3
261,400,000 200,000,000 ~(50,000,000] - — 411,400,000 -
* RZZE—NFARAAZTNHEHET * resigned on 26 June 2019
# RZZE-—NFRAZTLHRAEZE # appointed on 27 June 2019

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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HEAH & W B 2

Grant date Expiry date

{7 £ 58 BRTEE 13
Exercise

prices per Number of

Exercise period Share Options
BT

HK$

“Z-\EMA-+RHA Z—E-=F+-A-thBA B-EZ-N\E+-F-RAEZE

25 April 2018

“E-NEFE+AZ+HAR ZE-Z—FENA=1+—-H

25 July 2019

29 December 2023

31 August 2022

ZZCZZH+ZAZtNA 0.4
From 1 November 2018 to

29 December 2023
BZE-NEAA-ARE

“E--%#N\R=+-H 03
From 1 September 2019 to

31 August 2022

216,400,000

140,000,000

356,400,000

RAFHRBE - ZTEIE T A 3%
TZARRERDEE(BIE L
RAITHEP A% HE) £813,839,005, % -
HMERNAQAAEBDEITRALY
124% ° ZeT 8l 2% T FHH A7
F oUW ER-_ZET-_+F+=-AMNMA
fE e

As at the date of the annual report, the total number
of Shares of the Company available for issue under the
Scheme (including the above Options outstanding not yet
exercised] was 813,839,005, representing approximately
12.4% of the issued share capital of the Company as of
the date thereof. The remaining life of the Scheme is
approximately 7 years and to be expired on 4 December
2027.
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BRRE )

BHE-_Z—hhF+=-A=+—H1t
FEMEH2BRE £FAHAZE
AN EEEXNEBEEANEARY
13,509,000/ 7T - @ AZHEERR
MEZHFEEZAREHBRHAR
B0.2858 L Lt fT{E(E - TEHR IR
B B R46.729% E54.568% ~
FEERRFEIL59%E1.758% °
%@11&310&%%&%%%&%@&
G B 25 K164 © ¥ 7B HE R (B [
#ﬁmjf—’&)g%ﬁ;‘l'im;ﬂirpa'
BEBR-_FT_FTF+-_A=+—
HE-_ZE—hFtA-+HBENE
AREMNFROWMATESE - &
2T -_FEF+-_A=+—81t
FE o #3,9750008 T (ZE—Ah
¢ 19415000,%7E)Eu+)\,$:.¢a
Hm=hEMEEmBREZRA -

BE_Z - TF+-_A=t—HL
ﬁf’fﬁ%ﬂi#ﬂjﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁx%°

f# R

AEBNAFE M BEHMB
ﬁigﬁﬁﬁﬂ"“@zﬁJﬁAﬁﬂ“#ﬁ%
FORZHEAREEHRA -

R-ZTE-—FF+-_HA=+—8 &
@ﬂ‘fﬁﬁ/ﬁﬁﬁﬁwﬁﬁfﬁfmv
FHRERAEEETUIR

A1 EFE) 51,003,291 000,%75<—
T-NF: 1,074,492,000,%75) s
BARE ARAFRNE YRGBT
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30.

31.

SHARE OPTIONS /continued)

The fair value of Options granted during the year ended
31 December 2019 determined using the Binomial Option
Pricing model was approximately HK$13,509,000. The
significant inputs into the model were share price of
HK$0.285, at the grant date and adjusted for the effect
of the share subdivision, exercise price shown above,
expected volatility ranged from 46.729% to 54.568%,
annual risk-free interest rate of 1.459% to 1.758%.
Expected life of Options of approximately 1.10 to 3.10
years and dividend payout ratio 1.64. The volatility
measured at the standard deviation of expected share
price returns is based on statistical analysis of daily
share prices from 31 December 2010 to 25 July 2019.
During the year ended 31 December 2020, approximately
HK$3,975,000 (2019: HK$19,415,000) were charged to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

No Options were granted during the year ended 31
December 2020.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current year and prior period are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 61 of the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2020, the Company's reserves
available for distribution, calculated in accordance with
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda [as amended)
(‘Companies Act”] amounted to HK$1,003,291,000
(2019: HK$1,074,492,000). Under the Companies Act, the
Company’s contributed surplus of the Company is also
available for distribution to the Shareholders. No dividend
shall be paid or distribution made out of contributed
surplus if to do so would render the Company unable to pay
its liabilities as they become due or the realisable value of
its assets would thereby become less than its liabilities.

31.

32.
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ERIE D) 31. RESERVES (continued)

AEBZERRBEEHEERE - The Group's special reserve represents the

=FARRAZ Ay £ R PTETT difference between the nominal value of the shares

ZEAEBEHAMBEZHME QA of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group

BihzHEHE ARXBUFRNM reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares

BITZARRATIRMEAE S ZE - n 1993, and the nominal value of the Company’s shares
issued in exchange therefor.

AEXEAELEAE 2% 32. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING
BR ACTIVITIES

BA—R CF: Y
R zRE & &z st

Duetoa Convertible

shareholder  Borrowings bond Total
FTiEn TEnx TiExn TiExn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

R-ZE-_TF—-—H—H As at 1 January 2020 113,028 487,442 385,072 985,542
& §fﬁi/ﬁ£ Financing cash flow (96,469)  (44,677) — (141,146
EHLHE Reclassification — 420,000 (420,000) -
(& X & 5 Exchange realignment 600 5,614 = 6,214
HinJFR ¢ & Other non-cash movement:
R E Interest payable 16,800 3,940 34,928 55,668
RZEZTFF+-ZA=+—H  Net debt as at

GORER e 31 December 2020 33,959 872,319 — 906,278
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32.

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES (continued)

Ef—=2 CIE: Y
IR 2 5K =R &% A

Due toa Convertible
shareholder  Borrowings bond Total

TE#n TExn TiExn TExR
HKS'000 HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000

R-—ZE-hF—A—8 As at 1 January 2019 183,152 376,627 350,336 910,115
RERERE Financing cash flow (86,924) 107995 - 2107
& X & 5 Exchange realignment - 2,596 - 2,59
HIEREEH: Other non-cash movement:
P A B Interest payable 16,800 224 34,736 51,760
RZZE-NF+-_A=+—H Net debt as at

W E%FE 31 December 2019 113,028 487,442 385072 985542

3. FREXRF 33. NON-CASH TRANSACTION

BHE_E-2F+-_A=+—H81t
FE AEEVTEFEAEBRER
,/% °

3% BEIKIE
REBUREEEEEAEFDN
BEROFBEMF1415 21K
24 o
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34,

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group did
not have material non-cash transaction.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group’s borrowings, which are secured by
certain assets of the Group, are included in notes 14, 15,
21 and 24.

35. IRKIE

AEBRFEHRIFE THNER
HRCHE
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35. COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the
end of the reporting period:

BT A9 18 K 1 5 4

—g-gs =t BN
2020 2019

Fix Fix
HK$'000 HK$’000

Contracted, but not provided for:
Property, plant and equipment 13,266 25,746

% BERXBEALXRS
) BAELSHBHRE LMD
MRS RER - A
EETHEABEALRS:

36. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere
in these financial statements, the Group had the
following material transactions with related parties
during the year:

nZ-2-%5 [ EELIDE.
+=p=+-0 [EECEI

IEFE ILEE
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
Bt 5 FiEx FiET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
R B % 12 R 2 A Management fee paid to an

TNZEEE intermediate holding company (i) 1,200 1,200

B E Notes:

(i) MEEERARINZERER
& A100,0008 T (= — N F:
100,000 7o) Y B »

b) AEBMEXEEIE ABRH:
EZHa Mo E—FFHE
HN P HRRMEEY -
EXFRNBEZBEALR

SMEK EMRAFBUAZTE
ENBERS -

(i) The management fee paid to an intermediate holding company was
charged at a monthly rate of HK$100,000 (2019: HK$100,000).

(b)  Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group:

Further details of directors’ fee end emoluments are
included in note 9 to the financial statements.

The related party transaction in respect of items (a)
(i) above also constitute connected transaction as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

BRI R R RARAR
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3. EXEEALTXRZ 2

) RZE2E-_ZEF+-_A=+—
H EBNf—2BREZHREBELY
433,959,000 T(ZZE — 1
£ : 113,028,000/ JT) © % =X
HAEEBEENZ2EANRN
&8 (M aE24) »

d RBEEEBAXSMERAD
RS EMAA (T EmRA])
F14AT2E -

- BEX@E@QKECQOBPESE
Ih - BEER AN FE36FT
BEBEZEMBEH RS
THEMBRABUAER
EETD °

- EFE®R Lx@mEM
B PREERRA A
Ming Xing Development
Limited 3% 18 | & 8% %
L+ B FE14AT3E R
FUATOFRET 28 E
NERBRRYEZR

=

iE °

- EFEBRLEX()EMH
[Ming Xing Development
Limited 5X 18 ] J5 & 1% IE
FRREBEGRN A
AEBYEEEFRD
B A EX#E#EHe L
AR B EGA TR B B
14A90fF B T 2 3] & -
NE R R ORI
ZHTE °
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(d)

36. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS /continued)

As at 31 December 2020, the amount due to a
shareholder is approximately HK$33,959,000 (2019:
HK$113,028,000). The amount is unsecured and are
repayable within 12 months [note 24).

Pursuant to Rule 14A.72 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”):

—  Save as disclosed in the item (a) and (c) above,
the Directors consider that the other related
party transactions disclosed in the Note 36
do not fall under the definition of “connected
transaction” in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

— The Directors confirm that the transactions
under "management fee paid to an intermediate
holding company” set forth in item (a]
above are fully exempt from the reporting,
announcement, circular and shareholders’
approval requirements under Rule 14A.73 and
Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules.

— The Directors confirm that the transaction
under “amount due to Ming Xing Developments
Limited” set forth in item (c] was conducted
on normal commercial terms or better, and
not secured by the assets of the Group, and
thus are fully exempt from the reporting,
announcement, circular and shareholders’
approval requirements under Rule 14A.73 and
Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules.

3. EFEBE S zEMTA

EHEANSRIERBRERARZE
HEWT:

31.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period

are as follows:

—E-FEF+-HA=+—H
31 December 2020

e E 5 R 3 & R R 9B
Pl iR e M H M IR
REZEMEE
EEMRITER
ReMhRELEEIER

Financial assets

Trade and bills receivables

1208
CESTE ¥
SHAE

Financial
assets at
amortised cost
nabi: o
HK$’000

172,292

Financial assets included in deposits

and other receivables
Pledged bank deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

8,765
10,185
36,104

227,346

e B 5 Bk
JIRMEMENREAREFERZ

TRAE

& 3%

FEf— 2R 2 5KIA

Financial liabilities

Trade payables

1% 14 85 P A
R
SRaE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost

FEx
HK$’000

36,216

Financial liabilities included in other

payables and accruals
Borrowings

Amount due to a shareholder

72,603
872,319
33,959

1,015,097
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37. RMERIEIS 2RI E ()  37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued) 8. EMIEZRAFERLF 38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL

—2-NF+=A=+-H
31 December 2019

EE

ERECDHBASECEREE
NBEZ A8 e EREEME

INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of the
Group’s financial assets and liabilities, the balance were

ﬁkzg?%?.gﬁzﬁ = ’ LB ARESRRNESETA approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the
SREE R EAEIA] o short term maturities of these instruments.
2
Financial
assets at 39 BMBEEAMEEEERIINE 39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
EMAE Financial assets amortise({coit AEEFXFZeM I ABREERE The Group’'s principal financial instruments mainly
FiEx SERLERERER e hHMW comprise trade and bills receivables, deposits and other
HK$'000 fEWIE RekReFMEEE - receivables, cash and cash equivalents, pledged bank
EHRFIRITER  ENESERXR deposits, trade payables, other payables and accruals,
FEWCE 5 0R X  JB R 1B Trade and bills receivables 151,471 HEAZRIBEREFTER B3 borrowings, and amount due to a non-controlling
H A& M E b B W SR IE Financial assets included in deposits and AR FE — Z IEHE B R BB~ Sl shareholder and convertible bonds.
ZERMEE other receivables 6,729 REJBRIE % -
ERFRITERK Pledged bank deposits 16,877
RekReSEAR Cash and cash equivalents 254,813 rEEERITAELANTEZRER The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
429 890 7%%%\}@, ® - MEBE & R R &I instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and foreign
' KEk EFgRILAEERE currency risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees
UL R e - BT policies for managing each of these risks and they are
BBERA summarised below.
AFEZ
EREMRE EE R Credit risk
_ Financial REEEHERAVBEEERHTNS The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
M ballislos e =HETRSD  c AEENRE MR third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
- T amortised B RNEEGRRETRS who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
EMAR Al L ~coit MEFHBETEERERER verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances
TR BE AN - AN R B A B 1 R IR IA are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’'s
HK$'000 e MAKENZRERE T exposure to bad debts is not significant. For transactions
& . E N %]L P IF LA AE il i 8 B AL ) that are not denominated in the functional currency of the
& " 5 5 i 50 . . Trade paygblg; o , 47,993 DREEBAENRS  A&EEE relevant operating unit, the Group does not offer credit
EIJ/,%,:H\WJTEHW\IE&JEE-I-EFHZ Financial liabilities included in other EHEENRFRRE  KEET terms without the specific approval of the Head of Credit
TREaR payables and accruals 25,21 @12 {E BR R o Control.
f& & Borrowings 487,447
JER — B ER 2 RIB Amount due a shareholder 113,028
A] R & 75 Convertible bond 385,072
1,058,746

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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39.

154

MR EEARREER
(#&)

EERRE)

R-CE-TFF+ A=+ —HHK
AR B i O e R R B B

TRBETBEBEAEEEERERD
EEEERRANEERRKRMO -
ﬁik%m$%@Lﬁ&W%ﬁ
Az HHEHMEHNAEBFHET
%%E’Uﬁzﬁiﬂj}EUTHT E’Jﬁ
AR UREBE= =&
T — ﬂ$+_ﬂf+ am¢

RBEER DR -

FEW & 55 H

39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

[continued)

Credit risk (continued)]

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31
December 2020

The table below shows the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group's
credit policy, which is mainly based on historical and
forward looking elements of the Group, unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31 December 2020
and 2019.

Trade receivables

FHISEE REBE HBERE
Expected loss  Gross carrying Loss
rate amount allowance

TRT TRx
HK$'000 HK$'000

RZZE_EF+_A=+—H 31 December 2020

BNER (K% HY) Current (not past due) 1.885% 168,359 3,173
B H) D Less than 1 year past due 100% 317 317
168,676 3,490
FEHBEER REHBE EBERE
Expected loss  Gross carrying Loss
rate amount allowance
TER TER
HK$'000 HK$'000

—E-NEFE+ZA=1T—H 31 December 2019
BN EA (R # HR) Current [not past due) 1.038% 148,830 1,545
B F Less than 1 year past due 100% 181 181
149,011 1,726

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

[continued)

Financial assets included in deposit and other receivables

FHEBEER REME BERBRE
Expected loss  Gross carrying Loss
rate amount allowance

TR TR
HK$000 HK$000

NRZZEZFEF+-A=+—H As at 31 December 2020

VE) Current 2.18% 8,765 191

FHBER REGE BERBRE

Expected loss  Gross carrying Loss

rate amount allowance

FEx FEx

HK$'000 HK$'000

RZZE—NF+ZA=+—H As at 31 December 2019

Vi) Current 2.52% 6,729 170

FHERVEBRULBEERREE In respect of bills receivables and cash and cash

BV ZERBENRSH H AL
ZIRTIMHEEEERR - BER
SEHAEBETEELD - Atk
WITEHEEREEERWIM AR
AEEAR B _TFR_FT—NEF
I M VE R o

REBE SRR

REBNUREERBESRE LT
HERHESRERRAR ZIA
ERASRIALRSMEE (NE
WE SRR 2B EIER - T8 A
KEXKZREREB N o

AEBERBRITERLBITEE
BOBNEEZRHBEMENRERN
FRRG¥E AKER-_FT=
EF+_A=T "B -FRIHY
ZHRITERDBREE@MERRR
I mERA e

equivalents, the credit risk is considered to be low as
the counterparties are reputable banks. The existing
counterparties do not have defaults in the past. Therefore,
expected credit loss rate of cash at bank is assessed
to be close to zero and no provision was made as of 31
December 2020 and 2019.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial

assets (e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows
from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
bank borrowings and banking facilities. The Group's
bank borrowings would mature in less than one year
as at 31 December 2020 based on the carrying value of
borrowings reflected in the financial statements.

HEM R EEERERAR
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39 HEEMREBEEZERINE 39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 9 BEEREEEERBE 39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(%&) [continued) (%) [continued)

RBEERKE) Liquidity risk /continued) I ¥E | p Foreign currency risk

TREMAREEBEREHARR The following tables described the maturity profile of the TREREAEMEBHEFTEN The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the
BEORTRNRZzeREE - Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting BRAT  ARKEXRZAIEAEE end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible

LER REREREMAERR
BN ER T BVEE 2 FOEA
EEHEMEBER -

B HWE KRS AEBE KA G
NegREREBEHEEERARE
ZRFEEBE) -

period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments.
Specifically, borrowing with repayment on demand clause
and amounts being demanded by the creditors for immediate
repayment are included in the earliest time band.

change in the Renminbi exchange rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group's profit before tax
(due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and
liabilities).

—2-8E+=A=+-H _ BATHR 2 wm,/
31 December 2020 LY R4 28 (A Rz
1]12?1‘:] BRER ] *Eﬁﬁ Change i: 2::?; (t::ﬁ:z:zg
ERFZE PR-—F HB-F £i=E4EH . O
Weighted in rate before tﬂ‘ in et!mti
average  On demand Total " FEx Fi#Ex
effective or less than Over  undiscounted Y% HK$’000 HK$'000
interest rate 1 year 1year cash flows Total
FHEx FHExT FHBT FBT —E-FF+=ZA=+—H 31 December 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EBTHUTES If the Hong Kong dollar
FET B 587 Trade payables = 36,216 - 36,216 36,216 fE R A weakens against:
ﬁ‘Jﬁﬁi\ﬁﬂ%H%’Jﬁ& Financial liabilities included in AR Renminbi 4 — —
E&@EJFEFEZ@EEE% other payables and accruals - 72,603 - 72,603 72,603 EHTHUT 8 If the Hong Kong dollar
fiE 3% - Borrowings 8.02 862,794 79,855 942,649 872,319 ERFAE: strengthens against:
EN—ZBEZHIE  Amount due to a shareholder — 33,959 — 33,959 33,959 AR#E Renminbi 4 _ _
1,005,572 79,855 1,085,427 1,015,097 _
—E-AFE+ZH=1+—H 31 December 2019
“B-AF+ZA=+-H ERITLANATER If the Hong Kong dollar
31 December 2019 bE & A7 ME - weakens against:
MEES RERY RUERT g%iﬁ%?‘ém Eetrf]w?llrjlzlng Kong dollar ‘ e -
=108 Dv— 38— 2FE & : 1=} _
ﬁ\,ﬁiﬂtﬁ =t LSS e L <Ly b & 715 - strengthens against:
average  On demand Total ARH Renminbi 4 (13,594) -
effective  or less than Over undiscounted . I R A g . _
interest rate 1 year 1year cash flows Total B E TR Excluding accumulated losses
Fa#x TFax  FEn TFEx
Y% HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET 8 5 8 5 Trade payables - 47993 - 47993 47993
VWAEMEMFIER  Financial liabilities included in
EHAERZERAE other payables and accruals - 25,211 - 25,211 25,211
& 3 Borrowings 733 335,730 193,250 528,980 487442
EN—%MEZFE  Amount due to a shareholder - - 113,028 113,028 113,028
ABRES Convertible bond 14.28 399,209 - 399,209 385,072

808,143 306,278 1,114,421 1,058,746
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39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

[continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeqguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may return capital to shareholders or issue new
shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies
or processes for managing capital during the year ended
31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.

0. DTz BF I AR R &R

ARFIR R E K Z 0B AR &
BRI

Bt 3% 35 2% B 5E (4R)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of
the Company at the end of the reporting period is as
follows:

—E-EF —E-hF
+=-A=+—H G- hkal:
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
TE&x FiET
HK$000 HK$'000
ERBEE NON-CURRENT ASSET
B AR ZIE Investments in subsidiaries 1,752,000 1,752,000
REBEE CURRENT ASSETS
JE U B B 2 R 3B Amounts due from subsidiaries 692,926 1,135,546
BRI HKIE Prepayments 978 830
H i JE U Other receivable — 28
Be MBTEH Cash and bank balances 73 108,778
RBEELR Total current assets 693,977 1,245,182
nEaE CURRENT LIABILITIES
HpENRELETEA Other payables and accruals 31,817 3,067
RITRERX Bank borrowings 22,785 32,872
H h {8 & Other borrowings 695,686 179,020
R E S Convertible bond — 385,072
e — B IR A Amount due to a shareholder 33,959 —
nBaERE Total current liabilities 784,247 600,031
RBEEEE), FE NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS (90,270) 645,151
EEHERTRBER TOTAL ASSETS LESS
CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,661,730 2,397,151
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0. RRBIzBI R FTE) 40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 0. AKDBlZzB R AFTE) 40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
[continued] [continued)]

—R-RE —F-NF Wi Note:
== =0 L=l +—A=+—H
31 December 31 December RRRZEEBRZOAT A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:
2020 2019

TFiExT FiEx 1’ BA WHEEE BERE

HK$'000 HK$’000 B IR x EERE IRIERE fiE RiER B
Share Capital Convertible Share
3Fﬁﬁﬁ{§ NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES premivm Contributed redemption bond equity option  Accumulated
= . account U reserve reserve reserve losses Total
fE 3% ) Borrowing - 93,454 FEx  FER 2 FER 2 TEx TFER  FEx TR
BN REERARRE Amount due to ultimate holding HKSO00  HKSTOD  HKS'00 HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSDOD  HKS'OD0
company — 565,767 L
\ N N R-ZE-AFE—A—H Asat 1) 2019 1,560,077 21976 419 86,548 8367  (488,652) 1,188,735
EEREEE Deferred tax liability - 5,999 set ey ’ ]
FEEERZERAZAS Loss and total comprehensive
- 665,220 expense for the year - - - - - (100,786)  (100,786)
BT AR & Dividend paid - - - - - (32872)  (32.872)
BEEE Net assets 1,661,730 1,731,931 BREEBROH AR 22 S Equity settled share-based
transaction — — — — 19,415 — 19,415
i R B EQUITY RZT—AF+=A=1+—H8 Asat31 December 2019
BETRA Issued capital 658,439 657,439 R-—Z-ZT4—fF—8 and 1 January 2020 1,560,077 21,976 419 86,548 27,782  (622,310) 1,074,492
e 9 (P ) Reserves (note] L 27 1,074,492 FEBFERZERZAESE Loss and total comprehensive
UL 4Tk o o . expense for the year = = = = = (77,176) (77,176)
i TE ks Total equity 1,661,730 1,731,931 T1E B AR Exercise of share options 2,557 = = = (557) = 2,000
B R E Share option lapsed = = = - (2,477) 2,477 —
BHEHRERR=ZTE_—F=A=+~ The financial statement was approved and authorised for BREABHAR2XS  Equity settled share-based
N PN o L <, R i transactions = C = = 3,975 = 3,975
ARESEeEAREERD I issue by the board of directors on 26 March 2021 and was BT Transfer to equity of
BRI EEREREE: signed on its behalf by: convertible bonds -~ — - (86,548) - 86548 =
R-B-®H+=H=+—H0 Asat31 December 2020 1,562,634 21,976 419 — 28723 (610,461) 1,003,291
KRB ZHEANBBRERE LN The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess
=FARRA Z KD £ RIFTEAT of the fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired
q
St 8 4 4 st 55 48 5 o ZEBEEAMKE ZHE QTR pursuant to the Group reorganisation prior to the listing
MrIShum Sai Chit Mr. Chi Jing Chao A FEBREARBUZRD of the Company’s shares in 1993, over the nominal value
' o ' P METZARRIROEEZEH - of the Company’'s shares issued in exchange therefor.
Director Director BE-NWN\—FBRERADE Under the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, a company may
—ERAAIAEETERT  KAH make distributions to its members out of the contributed
ABBREANZRIBEMRMERKEEH surplus in certain circumstances.
Dk e
Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited MR R B RE R AR
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42.

43.
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42.

43.

LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Reference was made to the announcement of the
Company dated 26 February 2021 regarding the winding
up petition against the Company. As of the date of the
consolidated financial statement, the petition was filed
against the Company for its failure to repay the petitioner
an outstanding principal of the Notes [as defined
below] together with the unpaid interest and default
interest in an aggregate amount of Us$20,707,777.78,
which was pursuant to a subscription agreement of
7% unsubordinated and unsecured notes due 2020 in a
principal amount of US$20,000,000 entered into between
the petitioner as subscriber and the Company as the
issuer dated 7 August 2017.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors consider that up
to report date there were no significant litigations would
have material adverse impact on the business, operation
and financial position of the Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 25 February 2021, the Company received a petition
(the "Petition”) filed by Al Global Investment SPC (formerly
known as Haitong Global Investment SP(II)) acting on
behalf of and for the account of Al Investment Fund
S.P. (the "Petitioner”) on 22 February 2021 against the
Company in the Court for an order that the Company be
wound up by the Court. The Petition was filed against
the Company for its failure to repay the Petitioner an
outstanding principal of the Notes (as defined below)
together with the unpaid interest and default interest
in an aggregate amount of US$20,707,777.78, which
was pursuant to a subscription agreement of 7%
unsubordinated and unsecured notes due 2020 in a
principal amount of US$20,000,000 entered into between
the Petitioner as subscriber and the Company as the
issuer dated 7 August 2017. The Petition will be heard
before the Court on 2 June 2021. The Company is in the
course of seeking legal advice in respect of the above
matter.

AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved

and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26
March 2021.

AMESIFEREERYHTRRZE
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

This summary does not form part of the audited financial

h— 1 o statements.
E 3 RESULTS
—E-RE
mA—HZE HZE HZE HZE BZE
—E-RE ZB—tF ZEB-NE CZEBE-NF =i
+=H +=A +=AH +=H +=H
Eqr=[2 Eqr=[= S =qr=[2 Sar=[2
B LEE LEE LEE LFE
For the
period from For the year For the year For the year For the year
1 April 2016 to ended ended ended ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
THER TERT TERT THET THER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(&)
(Restated)
W& Wit &
iog2 40} B i i) B i)
Note (i) and Note (i) and
Note (i) Note (i) Note (i)
FEREER Continuing operations
A Revenue 1,122,905 1,158,260 1,537,781 1,515,291 744,836
BADE A (BE) Profit/(loss) before tax 215,163 233,073 267,526 263,128 (68,648)
8w Income tax (56,811 (55,291) (49,835 (53,396) (5,363)
AEE/HBERE Profit/(loss) for the year/
RELEEBRT period from continuing
(B#) operations 158,352 177,782 217,691 209,732 (74,011)
MEBKIFEEEBK 2 Profit/lloss) from
wH (BB discontinued operations — 6,285 68,169 — —
KEE/HMEHF Profit/(loss) for the year/
(E#) period 158,352 184,067 285,860 209,732 (74,011)
FEER/(EE) Profit/[Loss) attributable to:
ARAIREREA Equity holders of the
Company 137,061 168,320 285,772 209,732 (74,011)
MRS Non-controlling interests 21,291 15,747 88 - -
REE/HREEF Profit/(loss) for the year/
/(B#A) period 158,352 184,087 285,860 209,732 (74,011)
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY (CONTINUED)

BEEHARE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

# # # # i
ZE-RE ZF-tF ZE-N\F ZE-NF gt 3s
+=A +=A +=A +=A +=A
=ap—g] =qr—12 =qp—2 =ap—g] =+-H
As at As at As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
TEx T TERx TEx T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Wi Hat HEt
Note (i) Note (i) Note (i)
EERS Total assets 2,126,175 2,558,801 2,372,218 2,554,324 2,556,832
BEAESE Total liabilities (967,240)  (1,435,557) (1,101,001) (1.166,437) (1,104,910)
1,158,935 1123244 1,271,217 1,387,887 1,451,922
ARAAIRERFEA  Equity attributable to equity
JE 1 A 1 holders of the Company 1,016,076 1,131,080 1,271,217 1,387,887 1,451,922
IS ES Non-controlling interests 142,859 (7.836) — - -
1,158,935 1123244 1,271,217 1,387,887 1,451,922
B 5F - Note:

(i) XERAEEABZLRHEFNRARFED

(i) The comparative figures of the results and asset and liabilities have been
prepared based on the previous annual report published in the corresponding
years.

HBEZEFEFRMER -

(i) AEBZ2NEMBEE—"T-NF+_A=+ (i)
—ALFEZERIEEEEBTREBRBONLD
Ik -

The Group has re-presented as if the operation discontinued during the
year ended 31 December 2018 had been discontinued at the beginning of the
comparative period.
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